Public Document Pack
Email: committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk
Direct line: 01403 215465

Planning Committee (South)
Tuesday, 27th April, 2021 at 2.30 pm
via Remote Video Link

Councillors:

Brian Donnelly (Chairman)
Tim Lloyd (Vice-Chairman)
John Blackall
Chris Brown
Jonathan Chowen
Philip Circus
Paul Clarke
Michael Croker
Ray Dawe
Nigel Jupp
Liz Kitchen
Lynn Lambert

Mike Morgan
Roger Noel
Bob Platt
Josh Potts
Kate Rowbottom
Jack Saheid
Jim Sanson
Diana van der Klugt
Claire Vickers
James Wright

You are summoned to the meeting to transact the following business
Glen Chipp
Chief Executive

Agenda

Page No.
GUIDANCE ON PLANNING COMMITTEE PROCEDURE
1.

Apologies for absence

2.

Minutes
To approve as correct the minutes of the meetings held on 9 March and 16
March 2021
(Note: If any Member wishes to propose an amendment to the minutes they
should submit this in writing to committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk at least 24
hours before the meeting. Where applicable, the audio recording of the
meeting will be checked to ensure the accuracy of the proposed amendment.)

3.

Declarations of Members' Interests
To receive any declarations of interest from Members of the Committee

4.

Announcements
To receive any announcements from the Chairman of the Committee or the
Chief Executive

Horsham District Council, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham, West Sussex RH12 1RL
Telephone: 01403 215100 (calls may be recorded) Horsham.gov.uk Chief Executive – Glen Chipp

Corporate & Democratic Services
www.hastings.gov.uk/meetings

7 - 14

To consider the following reports of the Head of Development and to take such action thereon
as may be necessary:
5.

Appeals

15 - 16

Applications for determination by Committee:
6.

DC/20/2497 - Lane Top, Nutbourne Road, Pulborough

17 - 54

Ward: Pulborough, Coldwaltham & Amberley
Applicant: Mr J Smith
7.

DC/20/2355 - Whiteoaks, Shoreham Road, Small Dole, Henfield

55 - 64

Ward: Henfield
Applicant: Mr Tracey Tingey
8.

DC/20/2543 - Petrol Filling Station, London Road, Ashington

65 - 76

Ward: West Chiltington, Thakeham & Ashington
Applicant: Chloe Ballantine
9.

DC/20/2494 - Land adjoining Firtops, Grove Lane, West Chiltington
Ward: West Chiltington, Thakeham & Ashington
Applicant: Mr Peter Sculley

10.

Urgent Business
Items not on the agenda which the Chairman of the meeting is of the opinion
should be considered as urgent because of the special circumstances

77 - 86

Agenda Annex
GUIDANCE ON PLANNING COMMITTEE PROCEDURE
(Full details in Part 4a of the Council’s Constitution)
Addressing the
Committee

Members must address the meeting through the Chair. When the
Chairman wishes to speak during a debate, any Member speaking at
the time must stop.

Minutes

Any comments or questions should be limited to the accuracy of the
minutes only.

Quorum

Quorum is one quarter of the total number of Committee Members. If
there is not a quorum present, the meeting will adjourn immediately.
Remaining business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the
Chairman. If a date is not fixed, the remaining business will be
considered at the next committee meeting.

Declarations of
Interest

Members should state clearly in which item they have an interest and
the nature of the interest (i.e. personal; personal & prejudicial; or
pecuniary). If in doubt, seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in
advance of the meeting.

Announcements

These should be brief and to the point and are for information only – no
debate/decisions.

Appeals

The Chairman will draw the Committee’s attention to the appeals listed
in the agenda.

Agenda Items

The Planning Officer will give a presentation of the application, referring
to any addendum/amended report as appropriate outlining what is
proposed and finishing with the recommendation.

Public Speaking on
Agenda Items
(Speakers must give
notice by not later than
noon two working
days before the date
of the meeting)

Parish and neighbourhood councils in the District are allowed 5 minutes
each to make representations; members of the public who object to the
planning application are allowed 2 minutes each, subject to an overall
limit of 6 minutes; applicants and members of the public who support the
planning application are allowed 2 minutes each, subject to an overall
limit of 6 minutes. Any time limits may be changed at the discretion of
the Chairman.

Rules of Debate

The Chairman controls the debate and normally follows these rules
but the Chairman’s interpretation, application or waiver is final.
- No speeches until a proposal has been moved (mover may explain
purpose) and seconded
- Chairman may require motion to be written down and handed to
him/her before it is discussed
- Seconder may speak immediately after mover or later in the debate
- Speeches must relate to the planning application under discussion or
a personal explanation or a point of order (max 5 minutes or longer at
the discretion of the Chairman)
- A Member may not speak again except:
o On an amendment to a motion
o To move a further amendment if the motion has been
amended since he/she last spoke
o If the first speech was on an amendment, to speak on the
main issue (whether or not the amendment was carried)
o In exercise of a right of reply. Mover of original motion

Page 3

-

-

-

-

has a right to reply at end of debate on original motion
and any amendments (but may not otherwise speak on
amendment). Mover of amendment has no right of reply.
o On a point of order – must relate to an alleged breach of
Council Procedure Rules or law. Chairman must hear
the point of order immediately. The ruling of the
Chairman on the matter will be final.
o Personal explanation – relating to part of an earlier
speech by the Member which may appear to have been
misunderstood. The Chairman’s ruling on the
admissibility of the personal explanation will be final.
Amendments to motions must be to:
o Refer the matter to an appropriate body/individual for
(re)consideration
o Leave out and/or insert words or add others (as long as
this does not negate the motion)
One amendment at a time to be moved, discussed and decided
upon.
Any amended motion becomes the substantive motion to which
further amendments may be moved.
A Member may alter a motion that he/she has moved with the
consent of the meeting and seconder (such consent to be signified
without discussion).
A Member may withdraw a motion that he/she has moved with the
consent of the meeting and seconder (such consent to be signified
without discussion).
The mover of a motion has the right of reply at the end of the debate
on the motion (unamended or amended).

Alternative Motion to
Approve

If a Member moves an alternative motion to approve the application
contrary to the Planning Officer’s recommendation (to refuse), and it is
seconded, Members will vote on the alternative motion after debate. If a
majority vote against the alternative motion, it is not carried and
Members will then vote on the original recommendation.

Alternative Motion to
Refuse

If a Member moves an alternative motion to refuse the application
contrary to the Planning Officer’s recommendation (to approve), the
Mover and the Seconder must give their reasons for the alternative
motion. The Director of Planning, Economic Development and Property
or the Head of Development will consider the proposed reasons for
refusal and advise Members on the reasons proposed. Members will
then vote on the alternative motion and if not carried will then vote on
the original recommendation.

Voting

Any matter will be decided by a simple majority of those voting, by show
of hands or if no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting unless:
- Two Members request a recorded vote
- A recorded vote is required by law.
Any Member may request their vote for, against or abstaining to be
recorded in the minutes.
In the case of equality of votes, the Chairman will have a second or
casting vote (whether or not he or she has already voted on the issue).

Vice-Chairman

In the Chairman’s absence (including in the event the Chairman is
required to leave the Chamber for the debate and vote), the ViceChairman controls the debate and follows the rules of debate as above.

Page 4

Original recommendation to APPROVE application
Members in support during debate

Members not in support during debate

Vote on original recommendation

Majority in favour?
Original recommendation
carried – APPROVED

Majority against?
Original recommendation
not carried – THIS IS NOT
A REFUSAL OF THE APPLICATION

Member to move
alternative motion
to APPROVE with
amended condition(s)

Member to move
alternative motion
to REFUSE and give
planning reasons

Member to move
alternative motion
to DEFER and give
reasons (e.g. further
information required)

Another Member
seconds

Another Member
seconds

Another member
seconds

Page 5

Director considers
planning reasons

Vote on alternative
motion to APPROVE with
amended condition(s)

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to APPROVE with
amended condition(s)
carried – APPROVED

If reasons are valid
vote on alternative
motion to REFUSE1

Majority against?
Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
Alternative motion
to APPROVE with
to REFUSE carried
amended condition(s) - REFUSED
not carried – VOTE ON
ORIGINAL RECOMMENDATION*

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to REFUSE not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

*Or further alternative motion moved and procedure repeated
1

If reasons are not valid
VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Subject to Director’s power to refer application to Full Council if cost implications are likely.

Vote on alternative
motion to DEFER

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to DEFER carried
- DEFERRED

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to DEFER not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Original recommendation to REFUSE application
Members in support during debate

Members not in support during debate

Vote on original recommendation

Majority in favour?
Original recommendation
carried – REFUSED

Majority against?
Original recommendation
not carried – THIS IS NOT AN
APPROVAL OF THE APPLICATION

Member to move
alternative motion
to APPROVE and give
planning reasons2

Member to move
alternative motion
to DEFER and give
reasons (e.g. further
information required)

Another Member
seconds

Another member
seconds

Page 6

Director considers
planning reasons

If reasons are valid
vote on alternative
motion to APPROVE

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to APPROVE carried
- APPROVED

*Or further alternative motion moved and procedure repeated

2

Oakley v South Cambridgeshire District Council and another [2017] EWCA Civ 71

If reasons are not valid
VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to APPROVE not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Vote on alternative
motion to DEFER

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to DEFER carried
- DEFERRED

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to DEFER not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Agenda Item 2
Planning Committee (South)
9 MARCH 2021

Present:

Councillors: Brian Donnelly (Chairman), Tim Lloyd (Vice-Chairman),
John Blackall, Chris Brown, Jonathan Chowen, Philip Circus,
Paul Clarke, Michael Croker, Ray Dawe, Nigel Jupp, Liz Kitchen,
Lynn Lambert, Roger Noel, Bob Platt, Josh Potts, Kate Rowbottom,
Jack Saheid, Jim Sanson, Diana van der Klugt and Claire Vickers

Apologies:

Councillors: Mike Morgan and James Wright

PCS/68 MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting held on 16 February were approved as a correct
record and would be signed by the Chairman.
PCS/69 DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS
There were no declarations of interest.
PCS/70 ANNOUNCEMENTS
There were no announcements.
PCS/71 DC/20/1788 - LAND AT GATE COTTAGE, THE STREET, THAKEHAM
The Head of Development & Building Control reported that this application
sought full planning permission for the erection of two semi-detached houses to
the south of Gate Cottage with associated parking and works.
The dwellings would have a simple cottage design with pitched roofs and
pitched roof gable features to the front eastern elevations. The proposal would
involve some earthworks and changes to the existing topography of the site,
which incorporated a steep bank lined with trees.
The application site was located within the built-up area boundary of Thakeham
on a piece of grassland to the south of a Grade II listed building, Gate Cottage.
The site was located within the Thakeham Conservation Area.
The Parish Council had raised objections to the original proposal and to the
amended plans. Two representations objecting to the proposal, and one letter
of support, had been received. The applicant’s agent addressed the committee
in support of the application and a representative of the Parish Council spoke in
objection.
Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: the principle of
1

Page 7

Planning Committee (South)
9 March 2021

development; heritage and visual impacts; landscape; trees; amenity; highways
& parking; ecology; and climate change.
Whilst there were some concerns regarding the impact on the character and
appearance of the conservation area, it was noted that the Conservation Officer
raised no objection.
RESOLVED
That planning application DC/20/1788 be approved subject to an
additional condition being added to control the installation of external
lighting and the conditions as set out in the officer’s report.
PCS/72 DC/20/2184 - LAND ADJACENT TO ST. ANNE'S, HYDE STREET, UPPER
BEEDING
The Head of Development & Building Control reported that this application
sought permission for the demolition of an existing two-storey domestic garage
and workshop and the erection of a single one-bedroom detached dwelling.
The application site was located on land that formerly constituted the garden
area of 5 Maines Road on land east of Hyde Street. The site was located within
the built-up area of Upper Beeding.
The Parish Council objected to the application. There had been seven
representations from four households; six of these were in objection to the
application and one in support. One member of the public spoke in objection to
the application and the applicant’s agent addressed the committee in support of
the application. A representative of Upper Beeding Parish Council spoke in
objection.
Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: the principle of
development; character, design and appearance; impact on local amenity;
highways & parking; climate change; and drainage.
Members considered whether the proposal overcame the reason for refusal of
previous applications relating to size and massing and concluded that the
proposal was acceptable. In response to concerns regarding the appearance of
the dwelling, it was agreed that the schedule of materials, required under
Condition 5, should be agreed in consultation with Local Members. It was also
agreed that, in the interests of residential amenity, Condition 6 regarding sound
attenuation would include details of glazed windows, together with through
ventilation should the windows be sealed.
RESOLVED
That planning application DC/20/2184 be approved subject to the
conditions as set out in the officers report, with: details of Condition 5 to be

Page
2 8

Planning Committee (South)
9 March 2021

3

agreed in consultation with Local Members; and details of Condition 6 (to
include details of glazing and ventilation) to be agreed in consultation with
Local Members.
PCS/73 SDNP/20/05253/FUL - GREENACRES FARM, WASHINGTON ROAD,
STORRINGTON
The Head of Development & Building Control reported that this planning
application sought the demolition of a residential unit and several outbuildings
and the erection of a single storey-dwelling.
The application site was located in the countryside and comprised Greenacres
Farm located to the south of Washington Road, east of the built-up area
boundary of Storrington.
The Parish Council objected to the application. There had been one
representation in support of the proposal. The applicant’s agent and architect
both addressed the committee in support of the application. A representative of
the Parish Council spoke in objection.
Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: the principle of
development; landscape impact, character, and appearance; impact on local
amenity; highways & parking; sustainable construction; ecosystem services;
and dark night skies.
RESOLVED
That planning application SDNP/20/05253 be approved subject to the
conditions as set out in the officer’s report.
PCS/74 DC/20/2280 - BADGERS NOOK, MELTON AVENUE, STORRINGTON
The Head of Development & Building Control reported that this application
sought the erection of a single storey dwelling and detached garage.
The application site was located to the east of Merryfield Way and west of
Melton Avenue, within the built-up area of Storrington.
The Parish Council objected to the application. Two letters of support had been
received. The applicant addressed the Committee in support of the proposal
and a representative of the Parish Council spoke in objection.
Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: the principle of
development; design and appearance; impact on local amenity; highways &
parking; and climate change.

Page3 9

Planning Committee (South)
9 March 2021

In response to concerns regarding the size of the garage, it was agreed that a
condition should be added to ensure that it remained ancillary to the main
dwelling. Members discussed the modern design of the proposal and how it
would relate to the surrounding area, and it was agreed that Condition 3 should
include approval of materials.
RESOLVED
That planning application DC/20/2280 be approved subject to the
conditions as set out within the officer’s report, with an additional condition
requiring that the garage be occupied ancillary to the main dwelling and
not as a separate dwelling, and materials to be agreed by Condition 3,
notwithstanding the details provided with the application.
PCS/75 DC/20/2269 - INFILL PLOT WEST OF ELMFIELD HOUSE, NEW HALL
LANE, SMALL DOLE
The Head of Development & Building Control reported that this application
sought planning permission for the erection of a two-storey dwelling with
associated access, landscaping and parking. Amendments to the original
proposal had been received which reduced its footprint, scale and bulk.
The application site was located to the south of New Hall Lane, within the built
up area of Small Dole. It was an undeveloped plot, surrounded by linear
development comprising an eclectic mix of dwellings.
Henfield Parish Council had objected to the application. There had been sixteen
representations from twelve addresses, all of which were in objection to the
application.
Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: the principle of
development; design and appearance; impact on local amenity; highways &
parking; and climate change.
There was some concern regarding overlooking, and it was requested that the
window on the west elevation be obscure glazed.
RESOLVED
That planning application DC/20/2269 be approved subject to the
conditions as set out in the officer’s report.

The meeting closed at 5.05 pm having commenced at 2.30 pm

CHAIRMAN

Page 410

Planning Committee (South)
16 MARCH 2021

Present:

Councillors: Brian Donnelly (Chairman), Tim Lloyd (Vice-Chairman),
John Blackall, Chris Brown, Jonathan Chowen, Philip Circus,
Paul Clarke, Michael Croker, Ray Dawe, Nigel Jupp, Liz Kitchen,
Lynn Lambert, Mike Morgan, Roger Noel, Bob Platt, Josh Potts,
Kate Rowbottom, Jack Saheid, Jim Sanson, Diana van der Klugt and
Claire Vickers

Apologies:

Councillors: James Wright

PCS/76 DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS
DC/20/0854 – Councillor Chris Brown declared a prejudicial interest as he knew
the applicant and would not participate in the debate and vote for this item.
PCS/77 ANNOUNCEMENTS
There were no announcements.
PCS/78 APPEALS
The list of appeals lodged, appeals in progress and appeal decisions, as
circulated, was noted.
PCS/79 DC/20/0854 - COPPED HALL FARM, OKEHURST LANE, BILLINGSHURST
The Head of Development reported that this application sought retrospective
planning permission for the bailing and storage of agricultural plastics for
subsequent despatch and recycling at Copped Hall Farm.
Agricultural plastic waste material would be imported into the site and unloaded
before being stored into stockpiles. Some bailing would occur on site. The
material would then be sent to recycling facilities, while unsuitable items would
be exported for recovery or disposal.
The application site was located in Copped Hall Farm, Billinghurst and was
situated to the south of Okehurst Lane. The site was not within any defined built
up area boundary with the surrounding landscape being classified as rural.
35 letters of representation had been received, 17 of which were in support of
the application and 18 objecting to the application. 3 Members of the public
spoke in objection to the application and 1 member of the public addressed the
committee in support. The applicant and the applicant’s agent also addressed
the committee in support of the application.
1

Page 11

Planning Committee (South)
16 March 2021

Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: the principle of
development; landscape character and visual impact; Heritage; environmental
protection and amenity; highway matters; and environmental issues.
Members were concerned with the impact on local amenity and concluded to
defer the application to allow a noise assessment to be undertaken of the
proposed site use.
RESOLVED
That application DC/20/0854 be deferred to allow a noise assessment to
be undertaken.
PCS/80 DC/20/1870 - CRAYS BARN, CRAYS LANE, GOOSE GREEN,
PULBOROUGH
The Head of Development reported that this application sought full planning
permission for the demolition of 2 attached agricultural buildings and the
erection of 3 chalet bungalow style dwellings.
The application site was comprised of a steel framed agricultural barn with halfheight block walls and timber slat walls above, and a corrugated steel roof.
The applicant’s agent addressed the committee in support of the application.
Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: the principle of
development; landscape character and visual impact; impact on neighbouring
amenity; quality of the resulting environment for future occupiers; highway
matters; climate change; and ecology considerations.
RESOLVED
That planning application DC/20/1870 be approved subject to the
conditions as set out in the officer’s report.
PCS/81 DC/20/2519 - 29 SCHOOL HILL, STORRINGTON, PULBOROUGH
The Head of Development reported that this application sought full planning
permission for the conversion of the existing building to a commercial unit.
The application site was located to the west of School Hill, within the built-up
area and conservation area of Storrington.

Page 212

Planning Committee (South)
16 March 2021

3

8 letters of objection had been received from 5 different address’ and
Storrington and Sullington Parish Council spoke in objection.
Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: the principle of
development; design and appearance; heritage impacts; amenity impacts; and
highway impacts.
Members felt that the application site was unsuitable for a commercial use and
should be used as an office only.
A motion was made to amend the officers’ recommendation to include a
condition allowing the site to be used as an office only. This motion failed.
Another motion was made to refuse this application on the grounds of
significant harm to the appearance of the Storrington Conservation area.
RESOLVED
That planning application DC/20/2519 be refused for the following
reason:
The proposed external alterations, with the addition of a new shopfront,
would be harmful to the appearance of Storrington Conservation Area
contrary to policies 33 and 34 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).
PCS/82 DC/20/1864 - 1 COMMERCIAL BUILDINGS, HIGH STREET, HENFIELD
The Head of Development reported that this application sought retrospective
planning permission for the change of use of a building from an ancillary office
to a beauty salon.
The application site was located to the west of the High Street and to the south
of Cagefoot Lane, within the built up area boundary of Henfield.
13 letters of objection from 9 address’ had been received.
Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: the principle of
development; design and appearance; impact on designated conservation area;
amenity impacts; and highways impacts.
RESOLVED

Page3 13

Planning Committee (South)
16 March 2021

That planning application DC/20/1864 be approved subject to the
conditions as set out in the officer’s report and that an informative be
sent to the applicant strongly advising them to notify clients via their
website and when booking appointments that they would need to park in
nearby local carparks.

The meeting closed at 4.19 pm having commenced at 2.30 pm

CHAIRMAN

Page 414

Agenda Item 5
Planning Committee (SOUTH)
Date: 27th April 2021
Report on Appeals: 04/03/2021 – 14/04/2021
1.

Appeals Lodged

Horsham District Council have received notice from the Planning Inspectorate that the following
appeals have been lodged:
Ref No.

Site

DC/20/2019

Barnwood Stables
Hurston Lane
Storrington
West Sussex
RH20 4HF

DC/20/1363

Barnards Nursery
Rock Road
Washington
West Sussex

Date
Lodged

16-Mar-21

Officer
Committee
Recommendation Resolution
Application
Refused

16-Mar-21 Deemed Consent

N/A

N/A

DC/20/1547

New Spinney
Spinney Lane
West Chiltington
Pulborough
West Sussex
RH20 2NX

19-Mar-21

Application
Permitted

Application
Refused

DC/20/0455

The Copper Cabin and
Geodesic Dome
Land To The East of Fryern
Road
Storrington, Pulborough
West Sussex
RH20 4BJ

23-Mar-21

Application
Refused

N/A

DC/20/2142

Green Shadow
Roundabout Lane
West Chiltington
Pulborough
West Sussex
RH20 2NT

06-Apr-21

Application
Refused

N/A

DC/21/0251

New Barn Nursery
Broadford Bridge Road
West Chiltington
Pulborough
West Sussex
RH20 2LF

Prior Approval
07-Apr-21 Required and
REFUSED

Page 15

N/A

2.

Appeals started

Consideration of the following appeals has started during the period:
Ref No.

Site

Appeal
Procedure

Start Date

EN/20/0431

14 Coxham Lane
Steyning
West Sussex
BN44 3LG

Written
Representation

24-Mar-21 Notice served

Written
Representation

24-Mar-21

Application
Permitted

Application
Refused

Lancasters Cottage
Littleworth Lane
Partridge Green
DC/20/2086
Horsham
West Sussex
RH13 8EJ

Written
Representation

06-Apr-21

Application
Refused

N/A

Marringdean Barn
Marringdean Road
DC/20/2128 Billingshurst
West Sussex
RH14 9HF

Written
Representation

09-Apr-21

Application
Refused

N/A

Land at Junction of
Hill Farm Lane and
Stane Street
Hill Farm Lane
DC/20/0636
Codmore Hill
West Sussex
RH20 1BW

3.

Officer
Committee
Recommendation Resolution
N/A

Appeal Decisions

HDC have received notice from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government that
the following appeals have been determined:
Ref No.

Site

Appeal
Procedure

Decision

Officer
Committee
Recommendation Resolution

EN/18/0055

The Granary
Westmill Farm
Shoreham Road
Small Dole
Henfield
West Sussex
BN5 9YG

Informal
Hearing

Appeal
Allowed

Notice served

Page 16

N/A

Agenda Item 6
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee South

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

27 April 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

Construction of 2No. additional settled gypsy accommodation site pitches

SITE:

Lane Top Nutbourne Road Pulborough West Sussex RH20 2HA

WARD:

Pulborough, Coldwaltham and Amberley

APPLICATION:

DC/20/2497

APPLICANT:

Name: Mr J Smith Address: Lane Top, Nutbourne Road Pulborough
RH20 2HA

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: More than eight persons in different households
have made written representations within the
consultation period raising material planning
considerations that are inconsistent with the
recommendation of the Head of Development
and Building Control; and
At the request of Cllr Clarke
RECOMMENDATION:

To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions

1.

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT

1.1

To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.2

The proposed development would involve the demolition of the existing stable building to the
eastern perimeter of the site and the change of use of the land to 2no. additional pitches to
the north of the existing built form, including 2no. parking spaces, and a bin store.

1.3

The site would be accessed from the existing access drive, with additional hardstanding laid
throughout the site to accommodate access for the additional pitches. Each pitch would
benefit from access off this central access drive, and would incorporate an area of
hardstanding for parking, along with an area of amenity space.
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE

1.4

The application site is located to the south of Nutbourne Road, outside of any designated
built-up area boundary. The site is therefore considered to be within a countryside location
in policy terms.

Contact Officer: Tamara Dale

Page 17

Tel: 01403 215166

1.5

The site comprises a triangular piece of land that is oriented from north to south, with an
additional rectangular piece of land extending to the east. The site is raised above the sunken
lane, with the boundaries of the site consisting of matures trees and scrub. The application
site was historically used as an agricultural paddock and has most recently been used for
2no. gypsy pitches and 1no. unrestricted dwelling. These pitches are located to the eastern,
southern, and western boundaries of the site, with a number of outbuildings also located
along the boundary. The wider site to the north remains undeveloped and is maintained in
grass cover, and the proposed development subject of this application would be located
within this area.

1.6

The wider surroundings comprise a cluster of residential dwellings with associated residential
curtilages, with open countryside beyond.

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES

2.2

The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:

2.3

National Planning Policy Framework

2.4

Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS)

2.5

Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 2 - Strategic Policy: Strategic Development
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 4 - Strategic Policy: Settlement Expansion
Policy 15 - Strategic Policy: Housing Provision
Policy 16 - Strategic Policy: Meeting Local Housing Needs
Policy 21 - Strategic Policy: Gypsy and Traveller Sites Allocations
Policy 22 - Gypsy and Traveller Sites
Policy 23 - Strategic Policy: Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation
Policy 24 - Strategic Policy: Environmental Protection
Policy 25 - Strategic Policy: The Natural Environment and Landscape Character
Policy 26 - Strategic Policy: Countryside Protection
Policy 31 - Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 35 - Strategic Policy: Climate Change
Policy 36 - Strategic Policy: Appropriate Energy Use
Policy 37 - Sustainable Construction
Policy 38 - Strategic Policy: Flooding
Policy 40 - Sustainable Transport
Policy 41 - Parking
Policy 42 - Strategic Policy: Inclusive Communities

2.6

Pulborough Parish Design Statement

Page 18

2.7

Pulborough Neighbourhood Plan (Regulation 16) is currently in draft form and of limited
weight, with the following policies of most relevance:Policy 1: A Spatial Plan for the Parish
Policy 15: Design

2.8

PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
PL/98/90

Erection of bungalow
Site: Lane Top (Adj To) Nutbourne La Nutbourne

Application Refused on
23.10.1990

PL/51/98

Erection of one house & garage
Site: Land East Of Little Paddock Nutbourne Road
Nutbourne
Erection of 1 detached house and garage
Site: Land East Of Little Paddock Nutbourne Road
Nutbourne
Retention of caravan & ancillary buildings
Site: Land East Of Little Paddock Nutbourne Road
Nutbourne
Retention of caravan and ancillary buildings

Application Refused on
22.07.1998

DC/16/2873

Use of building as a residential dwelling (Certificate of
Lawful Development - Existing)

Application Permitted on
17.03.2017

DC/17/2564

Removal of Conditions 2 and 3 to previously permitted
application DC/10/0586 (Use of land for stationing of 2
caravans for settled gypsy accommodation
retrospective application to retain 2 existing caravans,
one with a temporary permission). Relating to
personal An application at Oak Tree occupancy
restrictions

Application Permitted on
29.11.2018

PL/67/99

PL/39/02

DC/04/2554

Application Refused on
27.08.1999
Application Refused on
22.05.2002
Application Permitted on
25.02.2005

DETAILED PLANNING HISTORY
2.9

The application site has been subject of an extended planning history relating to the provision
of gypsy pitches, as outlined in greater detail below.

2.10

Retrospective planning permission for a caravan, storage building, and w.c building was
sought under planning reference PL/39/02 following a compliance investigation. The caravan
and storage building were located in an open fronted barn to the south of the site, and the
w.c building was located alongside the barn to the west. This application was refused for the
following reasons:
1) The site lies in a rural area and the proposed development is not essential to the needs
of agriculture, forestry, the extraction of minerals, the disposal of waste, or quiet informal
recreational use.
2) The site lies within a defined Local Gap where development will not normally be
permitted, particularly if it will contribute to the coalescence of villages or interrupt by
means of visual intrusion the existing rural landscape between settlements.
3) The proposed development does not represent an acceptable form of development.

2.11

Following this refusal, a subsequent application under planning reference DC/04/2554 was
submitted for the retention of a caravan and ancillary outbuildings. At this stage, the Council
had been provided with confirmation of the Applicant’s Gypsy status. It was outlined that the
application site is extremely well screened and is not visible from any public viewpoint, and
it was therefore concluded that the proposal had minimal impact on the surrounding
countryside in respect of visual amenity. Having regard to current and emerging Government

Page 19

Policy on planning for Gypsies, it was considered a refusal of planning permission on the
site’s countryside designation alone could not be justified. It was however acknowledged that
the accumulation of small scale development could diminish the Local Gap Policy, and it was
recommended on balance, that the given the exception circumstances, a personal
permission be granted.
2.12

A further retrospective application was submitted under planning reference DC/06/1722 for
1no. gypsy pitch. This pitch was located on the far-eastern portion of the site. At this time,
the Council were working toward meeting the requirements of the new Circular relating to
planning for Gypsies, however the identified needs within the District had yet to be met, As
such, it was concluded that a refusal of the application could be difficult to justify in terms of
existing planning guidance. It was again recognised that the site is extremely well screened
and not visible from any public viewpoint, with the development considered to have a minimal
adverse impact on the surrounding countryside in regard to visual amenity. In addition, the
site was considered to be reasonably located for schools and other services. On this basis,
a temporary and personal planning permission was granted.

2.13

A later application under planning reference DC/10/0586 sought permission for the stationing
of 2no. caravans on a permanent basis. The caravans were to be stationed to the far-east of
the site (subject of temporary planning permission under reference DC/06/1722) and to the
west of the site (adjacent to the caravan approved under reference DC/04/2554). It was
outlined that there was a need for site provision locally, and the identified need could not be
met in any alternative suitable existing site. While the rural location was acknowledged, it
was recognised that there were no alternative sites available closer to the built-up area, and
the family currently had children attending the local school, as well as being registered with
a local GP. Therefore, while the site was not considered to be ideally located for schools,
shops and other services, it was considered to be within acceptable limits, and therefore
suitable in the wider sense. On this basis, planning permission was granted, and subject to
a personal permission.

2.14

A Certificate of Lawful Development Existing relating to the residential unit within the open
barn was submitted under reference DC/16/2873. This sought to determine whether a
material change of use had occurred so that that the barn was occupied as a residential
dwelling. Initially the barn has comprised three bays, one of which was used to station a
caravan where the Applicant had lived, and another that had later been converted into a
drying room. This development had been subject to planning approval reference
DC/04/2554. The evidence provided outlined that the caravan has been removed from the
site by 2006, and the barn had then been converted to living accommodation. This indicated
that a change of use from a mixed use to a C3 (Dwellinghouse) had occurred, with the use
of the entire barn as a self-contained dwelling considered to determine the primary use of
the planning unit. The barn was no longer used in three parts, and a material change of use.
A Certificate for the use as a residential dwelling was therefore issued.

2.15

It is important to note that this dwelling is not subject of any condition relating to personal
use or as use for an individual or family with gypsy status, and this subsequently reduced
the overall number of approved pitches on the site from 3 to 2.

2.16

The most recent application under reference DC/17/2564 sought to remove the personal
occupancy conditions for the caravans approved under reference DC/10/0586. It was noted
that the removal of the personal occupancy condition would enable the application site to be
counted toward the overall site allocations within the District, and would therefore contribute
to the 5-year supply of deliverable sites. This was considered to be of significant weight to
the consideration of the application. Therefore, while it was noted that the site lies in a rural
area, which is reliant on the use of private vehicular traffic to access shops, services, and
schools the application site was not considered to be particularly isolated due to the level of
residential dwellings sited adjacent to the site. It was also noted that the site had been
occupied by the family for many years and was essentially an established residential site.

Page 20

For these reasons, the removal of the personal occupancy conditions was considered
acceptable.
2.17

The current context of the site therefore comprises 2no. gypsy pitches and 1no. residential
dwelling.

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers have
had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the public
file at www.horsham.gov.uk
INTERNAL CONSULTATIONS

3.2

HDC Strategic Planning: Most recently, the Council has progressed work on an updated
Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessment in order to understand the latest
position, and to develop an appropriate Gypsy and Traveller Policy as part of the Local Plan
Review. Consultants were appointed in March 2019 to research the number of pitches
currently in use in the District, as well as to identify what the current need for Gypsies and
Travellers in the District is likely to be over the next 17 years. In January 2020, the ‘Gypsy
and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) – Final Report’ was published. This
Report was part of the background evidence base that accompanies the Local Plan Review
(Regulation 18) Consultation which ran from February to March 2020. The GTAA Report
provides an evidence base for the provision new Gypsy and Traveller pitches and Travelling
Showpeople plots for the period 2019 to 2036. The GTAA identifies that there is a need for
93 pitches for Gypsy and Traveller households over the plan period (2019-2036). Neither the
GTAA nor the Regulation 19 Local Plan Consultation document considers sites for potential
allocation.

3.3

HDC Environmental Health: No Objection in principle but request conditions relating to foul
and surface water disposal, waste removal and hours of work, and lighting.
OUTSIDE AGENCIES

3.4

WSCC Highways (Initial Response – 12 January 2021): This application is for construction
of four additional settled gypsy pitches. The site is accessed via a shared private access off
of Nutbourne Road, a C-classified road subject to a speed limit of 20mph. It is noted that
immediately west of the access, the speed limit increases to National Speed Limit.

3.5

The LHA has been consulted on applications at this site previously; initially for retrospective
permission for retention of 2 gypsy pitches under DC/10/0586 (one pitch to be temporary).
In 2016, the LHA was consulted on DC/16/2873 for a Certificate of Lawful Use (Existing), for
use of building as a residential dwelling. In 2017, under ref: DC/17/2564, the LHA was
consulted on removal of conditions 2 and 3 of DC/10/0586 relating to personal occupancy
conditions. Although not relevant to the application, the initial committee decision to approve
DC/17/2564 was quashed by Judicial Review citing highways safety concerns relating to the
visibility splay condition applied to DC/10/0586. Following the Judicial Review, DC/17/2564
was re-submitted to committee and subsequently approved.

3.6

As part of the Judicial Review process, the LHA undertook a site visit on 27th June 2018 and
determined that the visibility splays included in condition 9 of DC/10/0586 had been
transposed in error and were therefore not achievable. The LHA also established that whilst
the access did not meet Design Manual for Roads and Bridges standards, the access was
considered acceptable for the level of traffic anticipated to be generated by the existing
development and the anticipated road speeds in this location.

Page 21

3.7

This application is anticipated to result in an intensification of use of the existing access. In
order to adequately assess the application, the LHA requests that the applicant demonstrate
maximum achievable visibility at the access. Splays must be drawn to the nearside
carriageway edge in each direction, utilising only land within the applicant's ownership, or
publicly maintained highway. Splays must not intersect third party land. The applicant is
requested to support the maximum achievable visibility splays with a 7-day speed survey to
determine the 85th percentile speeds in each direction in order to determine whether the
access is safe and suitable.

3.8

WSCC Highways (Subsequent Response – 05 March 2021): The LHA has been reconsulted on this application following submission of additional information and a revision to
the scheme, reducing the proposal to 2 additional settled gypsy pitches. Previously
the
LHA had requested that the applicant demonstrate maximum achievable visibility at the
existing access, and support any reduction in splays with a seven day speed survey.

3.9

The applicant has submitted a Transport Note prepared by Motion transport consultants. The
Transport Note (TN) was prepared prior to the scheme being reduced in scale. The TN and
submitted plans demonstrate that the applicants' ownership of land to the east of the access
exceeds the ownership demonstrated for previous applications. The splays demonstrated to
the east are anticipated to be sufficient for the anticipated speeds in this location, given the
posted 20mph speed limit.

3.10

The LHA will therefore only concern itself with the suitability of the achievable visibility to the
west of the access. The TN references estimated speeds observed by WSCC whilst on a
site visit for a separate application on the site in 2018. WSCC observed estimated speeds of
c. 30mph travelling eastbound (from the west), which would require splays of 43m in
accordance with Manual for Streets (MfS) standards. The TN demonstrates that 29m visibility
is achievable to the west of the access, however this splay is not within the applicant's own
land, or publicly maintainable highway and passes through third party land. The bank in this
location obstructs visibility to the west for vehicles waiting to egress the site and splays of
29m are not considered to be achievable, or securable. The TN also does not support the
proposed 29m splays with speed survey data. The splay plan also demonstrates the 2.4m X
distance at an acute angle to Nutbourne Road; whilst this would represent the likely
orientation of a vehicle exiting the access, this would result in the left side of a vehicles'
bonnet protruding into the carriageway.

3.11

Local residents instructed Bellamy Roberts to produce a Highway Safety Report, and
subsequent rebuttal to the TN prepared by Motion. As above, these were all prepared prior
to the reduction of the scale of the scheme. Nevertheless, the initial report was accompanied
by a speed survey conducted on 5th January 2021, observing 85th percentile speeds of
32mph. The speed survey has its limitations in regards to having been conducted over a
period of just 1-2 hours and only providing 50 data points. Therefore the survey cannot be
relied upon as an accurate representation of 85th percentile vehicle speeds in this location,
but supports the LHA's previous site visit observations of approximately 30mph in the
eastbound direction. Speeds of 32mph would require splays of 47.1m in accordance with
MfS standards, which as discussed above are unachievable in this location.

3.12

A visibility splay plan produced by Bellamy Roberts indicates that a splay of 9m is achievable
to the west of the access, at a 2.4m X distance perpendicular to Nutbourne Road. The LHA
agree that this is an accurate representation of visibility in this location. However, despite
the above, the LHA has considered the reduced scale of the application and given the
existing access is utilised by four dwellings currently - Inglenook Cottage, Oaktree View,
Lane Top and an unknown additional dwelling granted permission under a Certificate of
Lawful Use (Existing), the increase of 2 pitches is not considered to be a significant
intensification of use of the access. As such, the LHA could not justify an objection on visibility
grounds given that the access has operated for some time without evidence of highway

Page 22

safety concern and there have been no recorded injury accidents within the vicinity of the
site over the past 5 years.
3.13

The proposed plans demonstrate two car parking spaces per pitch which is anticipated to be
sufficient provision for the proposal. These spaces appear to meet the minimum
specifications of 2.4 x 4.8m as set out in Manual for Streets (MfS). The applicant also
proposes covered cycle storage for each pitch.

3.14

In the interests of sustainability and as result of the Government’s ‘Road to Zero’ strategy for
at least 50% of new car sales to be ultra-low emission by 2030, electric vehicle (EV) charging
points should be provided for all new homes. Active EV charging points should be provided
for the development in accordance with current EV sales rates within West Sussex (Appendix
B of WSCC Guidance on Parking at New Developments) and Horsham Local Plan policy.
Ducting should be provided to all remaining parking spaces to provide ‘passive’ provision for
these to be upgraded in future.

3.15

The LHA does not consider that this proposal would have an unacceptable impact on
highway safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts on the operation of the highway
network, therefore is not contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph
109), and that there are no transport grounds to resist the proposal.

3.16

WSCC Highways (Subsequent Response – 09 April 2021): Following a review of the
rebuttal by Bellamy Roberts on behalf of local residents to the LHA’s comments on 05 March
2021.

3.17

The LHA acknowledges that visibility is substandard to the west of the access in this location
(2.4m x 9m). It should be noted that visibility splays from the access to oncoming traffic are
deemed to be sufficient and in accordance with the guidance in Manual for Streets. However,
we have drawn our conclusions based upon the evidence and best practice research such
as that included within Manual for Streets. This states in paragraph 10.4.2:
“It has often been assumed that a failure to provide visibility at priority junctions in accordance
with the values recommended in MfS1 or DMRB (as appropriate) will result in an increased
risk of injury collisions. Research carried out by TMS Consultancy for MfS266 has found no
evidence of this …”

3.18

Section 10.5.9 goes on to state,
“The Y distance should be based on the recommended SSD values. However, based on the
research referred to above, unless there is local evidence to the contrary, a reduction in
visibility below recommended levels will not necessarily lead to a significant problem.”
Given the reduction in visibility is in the trailing direction, that there are limited opportunities
to overtake on this section of road, the evidence within the Manual for Streets and the lack
of local evidence in the form of an existing accident problem from the existing access there
is not sufficient evidence to recommend a refusal of the application.

3.19

WSCC Highways (Subsequent Response – 14 April 2021): A further response was
provided following a review of a subsequent email submitted by Bellamy Roberts in respect
of the LHA’s comments on 09 April 2021.

3.20

The LHA advised that they had considered the points made within the email and that their
original comments sent on 05 March still stand, and the Highway Authority has no formal
objection to this application.

3.21

Southern Water (Initial Response): Existing foul sewers and water trunk main cross the
site. The exact position of the public assets must be determined on site by the applicant in
consultation with Southern Water. The 150 mm diameter gravity foul sewer requires a

Page 23

clearance of 3 metres on either side of the gravity sewer to protect it from construction works
and to allow for future maintenance access. No development or tree planting should be
carried out within 3 metres of the external edge of the public gravity sewer without consent
from Southern Water. The 400 mm diameter water main requires a clearance of 6 metres on
either side of the water main to protect it from construction works and to allow for future
maintenance access. No excavation, mounding or tree planting should be carried out within
6 metres of the external edge of the public water main without consent from Southern Water.
No soakaways, swales, ponds, watercourses or any other surface water retaining or
conveying features should be located within 5 metres of public or adoptable gravity sewers,
rising mains or water mains. All existing infrastructure, including protective coatings and
cathodic protection, should be protected during the course of construction works. Note there
is also a 12 inches decommissioned trunk main within the development site.
3.22

In order to protect sewer and water apparatus, Southern Water requests that if consent is
granted, conditions are attached to the planning permission.
PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS

3.23

Pulborough Parish Council (Initial Consultation – 07 January 2021): Objection:-

3.24

Pulborough Parish Council (Subsequent Response - 04 March 2021): Objection:-

3.25

Overdevelopment that would significantly increase the resident families on the site.
The proposed number of pitches is in excess of that identified in the Gypsy and Traveller
Allocation Plan DPD
Dominate the surrounding residential properties
Overlooking due to the site levels above the neighbouring properties
Proximity to water main running through the site
Dangerous access onto Nutbourne Road and unacceptable highway safety risks
Adequate coverage of gypsy pitches elsewhere in the District

Pulborough Parish Council (Subsequent Response - 01 April 2021): Objection:-

3.26

Overdevelopment that would significantly increase the resident families on the site.
The proposed number of pitches is in excess of that identified in the Gypsy and Traveller
Allocation Plan DPD
Dominate the surrounding residential properties
Overlooking due to the site levels above the neighbouring properties
Water main running through the site
Dangerous access onto Nutbourne Road and unacceptable highway safety risks
Adequate coverage of gypsy pitches elsewhere in the District

Overdevelopment and would significantly increase the resident families on the site and
dominate the surroundings
Outside the boundary for permitted residential development
Additional pitches would be located on high ground overlooking surrounding residential
properties
Dangerous access onto Nutbourne Road, using an already hazardous entry point
Proximity to water main and sewerage and associated buffer area
Adequate coverage of gypsy pitches elsewhere in the District
Rebuttal Statement by Bellamy Roberts repudiates the recommendation of WSCC
Highways

A total of 59 objections were received, from 33 separate households, and these can be
summarised as follows:-

Impact on tranquillity of rural area

Page 24

3.27

Codmore Against Rural Decline: Objection for the following reasons:-

3.28

Increase noise disturbance and pollution
Excess and increased traffic
Not required for existing family
Entrance point used as passing lane for Nutbourne Road
Refuse collection and storage of refuse bins
Air pollution
Alternative sites available in the District
Overdevelopment of the site
No space for touring caravans and impact on parking allocation
No special circumstances to justify development
Not appropriate in rural location
No speed survey submitted
Would dominate the nearest settlement
Highway safety concerns
Over-intensification on site
Overlooking and loss of privacy
Proximity to underground pipes
Concerns of Southern Water in respect of pipe location
Cut and fill earthworks previously undertaken on site in 2015
Distanced from local services and facilities
Landscape character impact
Outside of settlement boundary
Not in keeping with the original planning permission
No amenity rooms provided
High density development
No footpath for pedestrians
Risk to pedestrians and cyclists
Destruction of trees
Use of private vehicles
Light pollution
Traffic accidents in close proximity to site
No provisions for sewerage
Commercialisation of site
No need for additional gypsy accommodation
Would not make a positive contribution to landscape character
No surface water drainage
Setting of precedent
Limited landscaping

Proposal would double the households on the site, potentially increasing the
population in the region of 15-20 people and 10 vehicles
Would dominate the neighbouring community and permanently change its social
balance
Detrimental impact on the privacy and amenity of neighbouring properties
Increase traffic on the narrow lane with poor visibility

Bellamy Roberts Highway Safety Report - January 2021 (commissioned by Nutbourne
Residents): Bellamy Roberts LLP Highways and Transport Consultants were instructed on
behalf of local residents to advise on the highway aspect of the planning application for 4
dwelling pitches at Nutbourne Road, Pulborough.
A previous application (DC10/0586) which was considered by West Sussex County Council,
the relevant Highway Authority, was granted planning permission subject to planning
conditions being imposed seeking visibility splays at the access to be achieved, being
visibility splays of 2.4m by 36m to the west and 70m to the east. Such splays were required
at the time by the Highway Authority, based on the assumption of traffic speeds being in the

Page 25

order of 25mph (travelling eastbound) in order to achieve a safe access as recommended
within (MfS).
6.29

The visibility splay at a junction/access ensures there is adequate inter-visibility between
vehicles on the major and minor arms. An ‘x’ dimension of 2.4m should normally be used in
most situations, as this represents a reasonable maximum distance between the front of the
car and the drivers’ eye. The ‘y’ dimension is the distance that a driver who is about to exit
from the minor arm can see to the left and right along the main road. The ‘y’ dimension is
relevant to the 85th%ile speed of traffic travelling along the major road.

6.30

It is understood that the track which would be used to serve the site currently serves 4
dwellings (3 pitches and a house, Inglenook Cottage). The proposal would increase this to 8
dwellings. This would double the traffic movements at the existing access/junction.

6.31

In order to establish the required visibility splay to the west of the access, a speed survey
was conducted on 5th January 2021. The speed survey established that the 85th%ile speed
of eastbound traffic when approaching the track is 32mph. In accordance with (MfS)
paragraph 7.5.3 and Table 7.1, the required ‘y’ dimension (visibility splay) commensurate
with the measured speed of traffic should be 45m. From visiting the site and taking
measurements of the splays that can be achieved at the access, it is evident that only a splay
of 2.4 x 9m to the west and a visibility of 2.4 x 22m to the east can be achieved.

6.32

The access currently provides a visibility splay of 9m to the west. This is substantially below
the required visibility splay. The 45m splay encroaches onto third party land and therefore
currently cannot be achieved. The sight line to the west when emerging is very restricted to
anticipate oncoming traffic from the west. When exiting the track, one must tentatively
emerge from the track and strain to assess whether there is oncoming traffic from the west.
There is extremely limited visibility at the track access to adequately anticipate oncoming
traffic. Adding 4 further households would significantly increase traffic movements to and
from the inadequate access. Whilst the access track is existing the proposal would further
intensify the vehicular use of a sub-standard access/junction which would impose an
unacceptable highway safety risk upon the occupiers as well as users of the public highway.

3.33

Bellamy Roberts Transport Highways Technical Note - 26 February 2021
(commissioned by Nutbourne Residents): This Highway Technical report considers the
transport notes prepared by Motion.

3.34

Initially County Highway Authority sought visibility splays commensurate with the speed limits
along the road. It was clear that the land to the west of the site did not belong to the applicants
and therefore adequate visibility splays could not be achieved to the west. In 2018 under
DC-17-2HDC sought to remove Condition 9 regarding visibility splays imposed in 2010
stating that it was not necessary as it was not achievable and that the visibility splays were
acceptable. This was challenged at judicial review and HDC conceded and took the
application back to the planning committee in 2018. In July 2018 the County Highway
Authority had estimated speeds travelling east-bound to be in the region of 30mph. However,
no assessment was made as to the required visibility splays despite County Highway
Authority stating that a traffic speed survey was the only way to establish the required
visibility splays. In November 2018 HDC stated that visibility splays were acceptable and
planning Condition 9 regarding visibility splays was removed. It should be noted that the
Highway Authority maintained their requirement for the appropriate visibility to be achieved.

3.35

The land to the west of the site in which the visibility splay encroaches as suggested by
Motion, remains outside the control of the applicant and as such, the visibility splays shown
cannot be achieved. Motion confirms in their Highway Note that this issue relating to
landownership remains the case, and as such should acknowledge that the visibility shown
on their drawing to the west of the site cannot be achieved.

Page 26

3.36

Motion references and notes that the County Highway Authority currently requires
information to support the maximum achievable visibility splays. The County Highway
Authority has requested a seven day speed survey to determine the 85th percentile speed
in each direction in order to determine whether the access is safe and suitable. However,
Motion does not attempt to provide such information nor indeed justify why it has not been
provided and rely upon estimated speeds suggested previously by the County Highway
Authority. Based upon this failure, Motion and indeed the County Highway Authority are
unable to determine whether the access is safe and suitable to accommodate the proposal.

3.37

Bellamy Roberts on behalf of the local residents, undertook a speed survey which is set out
in the Highway Safety report submitted previously, and established that the speed recorded
(85th percentile) in an easterly direction within the vicinity of the access is 32mph. Such
speeds would require splays of 45m to be achieved to the left when exiting the track to
comply with the guidance within MFS.

3.38

Motion seeks to argue that as there has been no personal injury accident data recorded at
the access over the past 10 years, the access is suitable to serve the development proposed.
Such an approach is lacking in any technical or valid reasoning. By merely stating no
accidents have occurred does not prove that an accident in the future would not occur.
Particularly as in this instance the intensification at the access in traffic movements
associated with the pitches will be doubled.

3.39

The proposal seeks to increase the number of units from 2 pitches to 4 pitches, this is a
doubling of the traffic movements. Such intensification of movements at a substandard
access with poor visibility is material and should be deemed significant. Indeed, even a single
additional pitch would constitute intensification to an unacceptable and unsafe level, given
the constraint on the visibility splay.

3.40

It is evident that the Applicant has failed to comply with the most recent request of the County
Highway Authority to undertake a speed survey. The plan prepared by Motion illustrating the
alleged achievable splays is incorrect and based on a lesser speed than assumed by the
CHA. The plan shows a 29m visibility splay west of the access. A splay of 29m is
commensurate to a vehicle speed of 24mph. Notwithstanding this, the splay shown extends
across third party land which is a high bank preventing such a splay from being achieved
(see photograph 1 below).

3.41

The visibility splay shown on the Motion drawing, and stated in their report that it represents
the current achievable visibility is wholly misleading and incorrect. The visibility splay shown
on their drawing extends across the bank on the southern side of Nutbourne Road. This area
is outside the applicants control and is not within the highway boundary as previously
admitted by Motion in their Technical Note (reference paragraph 2.1).

3.42

The area of land in which the splay encroaches is a steep bank approximately 2.5m-3m high
see photograph 1 above. It is clearly evident that the required visibility splay cannot be
achieved due to the topography of this area, and the fact that the land i.e. the bank, lies
within third party land ownership. It is therefore abundantly clear that the suggested visibility
splay cannot be achieved to the west of the track.

3.43

The lack of speed survey data also puts doubt in the need for a 29m splay this distance is
based on a speed (24mph) which is less than the assumed speed made by the County
Highway Authority some time ago and significantly less than the recorded speeds. The
County Highway Authority currently seek a seven day speed survey to be undertaken.

3.44

Bellamy Roberts undertook a speed survey which demonstrates that the required visibility
splay to the west should be 45m which is commensurate with the measured 32mph 85th
percentile speeds. Such a splay as illustrated on the plan 5550/001 shows that the splay
would encroach further into third-party land beyond the top of the bank. The ‘x’ dimension of

Page 27

2.4m shown on the Motion plan to 101059-SK-01A has been drawn at an acute angle to the
alignment of the Nutbourne Road. This is incorrect and should be drawn perpendicular to
Nutbourne Road. As such, the splay shown on the Motion drawing is too close to the edge
of the carriageway and gives a false image of the true impact of the correct visibility splay.
3.45

It is evident that the applicant’s consultants, Motion, has not correctly assessed the available
and achievable visibility at the access. They have also underestimated the impact of a
doubling of traffic movements on the safety of the access and adjoining highway.

3.46

It is evident from the factual information obtained that the visibility splays to the west cannot
be achieved as suggested by Motion and will remain substantially substandard at 9m as
shown on plan 5550/001. Such a substandard visibility and doubling in traffic movements
would result in an unacceptable impact on highway safety. Indeed, even a single additional
pitch would constitute an unacceptable intensification due to highway safety at this
substandard access.

3.47

Bellamy Roberts Rebuttal Note - 30th March 2021 (commissioned by Nutbourne
Residents). A Rebuttal Note has been prepared in response to West Sussex County Council,
as Highway Authority’s consultation advice relating to the above planning application dated
5th March 2021.

3.48

The most important factors in assessing new or existing junctions/accesses are, safety of
road users and capacity. Clearly in this instance capacity is not an issue but safety is
paramount not only to the traffic associated with the site but also the general public using the
highway network.

3.49

Any new junction or intensification of an existing junction should be considered in light of the
guidance and standards. These standards are set out to ensure that junctions and accesses
are designed to be safe and the risk of accidents is kept to an acceptable level. In this
instance the splay required and agreed by the County Highway Authority, to accord with
recognised guidance is 47.1m at an x-dimension of 2.4m. It is agreed and accepted by the
County Highway Authority that a visibility of only 9m can be achieved at the access. This
represents a substantial shortfall of the visibility required.

3.50

The County Highway Authority merely states that as there is only 2 additional pitches at the
existing access which currently serves 4 dwellings, such an increase is not considered to be
significant. The authority go on to state as there has been no accidents thus far it is
acceptable, to allow the intensification. In my view such an approach particularly when
dealing with highway safety is irresponsible. The increase in traffic of 2 pitches is a 50%
increase in flows at the sub-standard access, where visibility is five times below the
recommended standard, and well below even when applying an emergency stop situation.

3.51

There is no need to accept or allow a proposal which would add traffic movements to a
substandard junction that would outweigh the likely consequence of an accident occurring.
The County Highway Authority has a responsibility of ensuring safety on the highway for the
general public. In order to provide a safe access, the visibility splays should be
commensurate with the speed limit or recorded 85th%ile speed of traffic, travelling along the
main arm of a junction. The speed survey undertaken is the only evidence that the decision
maker has in this instance. The 85th%ile speed was found to be 32mph. Such speeds would
require a junction to be designed safely in accordance with the standards and provide a ydimension (visibility splay) of 47.1m (to the left when exiting the minor arm).

3.52

There is no need to accept such a shortfall in safety matters that would outweigh the
consequence of such an accident occurring. The correct conclusion would be to air on the
side of caution and not permit any additional traffic movements to occur at a substandard
access. To do otherwise would be irresponsible.

Page 28

3.53

Bellamy Roberts (14 April 2021):- The County Highway Authority acknowledges that the
visibility at the existing access is substandard (2.4 x 9m) but go on to state that visibility
splays to oncoming traffic are deemed sufficient and in accordance with MfS. They confirm
that the conclusions are based upon evidence and best practice research such as stated in
paragraph 10.4.2 in MfS2.

3.54

The research referred to, was undertaken by TMS which studied accidents at some priority
junctions. It is most important and essential when making reference to research of this
nature that the research is relevant and applicable to the subject matter. Unfortunately, the
research examples and relevant parameters are not comparable with the access at
Nutbourne Road. The research only looked at a number of urban junctions within speed
limits up to 40mph. This junction is in a rural location and its visibility lies within 60mph
limit. Many of the junctions considered in the research were located along straight roads
with good forward visibility. Nutbourne Road is not straight nor has it good forward visibility.
The research refers to restricted visibility which meant in the context of the research that the
‘y’ dimension (visibility) was restricted by street furniture and parked vehicles rather than
buildings or alignment. The visibility in this instance is obstructed by a bank within the verge
outside the control of the Highway Authority and the applicant. It is therefore a complete
obstruction and not partial obstruction as one would find with street furniture and parked
vehicles. The thrust of the research concluded that there appears to be no increase in the
number of accidents when comparing the visibility splays less than 45m with visibility splays
greater than 45m. The conclusion of the study being that it was unable to demonstrate that
the road safety concerns expressed regarding reduced ‘y’ distance visibility are directly
associated with increased collisions. This conclusion is based on urban roads within speed
limits less than 40 mph, and when visibility is partially restricted. It is clearly not appropriate
or suitable to determine the safety of a rural junction as in this case based on the research
undertaken. It should be recognised that in the examples of the study, accidents did occur
irrespective of the visibility splays being less or greater than 45m. Furthermore, the study is
not extensive and acknowledges that whilst parking was cited as a factor of influencing
visibility restriction, the researchers were not aware of the parking demand at the time of the
accident occurring. Such results should therefore not be used in the analysis of the research.
The study does not allow a decision maker to have an overall view, that as visibility is poor
the junction remains safe. Clearly the research does not say that, and neither does it say
that the junction safety with a visibility splay of only 9m and vehicle speeds of 32mph is safe.

3.55

Notwithstanding the above, the study did not take into consideration weather conditions nor
gradient of the carriageway, both of which affect the stopping capabilities and hence safety
of a junction. The study merely compared the number of accidents at existing urban
junctions with lesser or greater visibility of 45m. The junction at Nutbourne Road is located
on a down gradient for eastbound traffic which requires even greater distances to stop than
on a level gradient. Research undertaken by TRL on behalf of the Department of Transport
(TRL report 661) The Manual for Streets: Evidence and Research. The research found that
a sight distance of 40m is relatively safe i.e. there is an acceptable safety margin to stop
should danger present itself. However, the margin of safety becomes rapidly lower below
40m and a sight distance of 20m is predicted to be unsafe. The sight distance to oncoming
traffic in this instance is only 15.5m.

3.56

The Highway Authority stated that the achievable visibility of 2.4 x 9m is substandard but go
on to state that the visibility to the oncoming traffic is deemed sufficient in accordance with
MfS. I attach a plan reference 5550/002 illustrating the extended visibility splay reaching the
point of oncoming traffic. As can be seen the visibility achieved to the oncoming traffic is
only 15.5m. This remains a staggering shortfall of the required distance of 47.1m as
recognised by the Highway Authority and less than 20m predicted to be unsafe by the TRL
research. Therefore concerns remain in respect of the Highway Authority’s conclusion in
this instance.

Page 29

3.57

The Local Authority and members will hopefully be aware of the inconsistencies of the
Highway Authority in respect of the planning applications made at this site in the past. A
scheme for a single dwelling was recommended for refusal based on the access being
unsafe and this decision was upheld at appeal. Earlier schemes for traveller pitches were
recommended by the Highway Authority to require visibility splays of 215m in 2005 and 70m
in 2010. They are now stating that a visibility splay of 9m is acceptable based on research
which is not applicable in this instance.

3.58

The reference to the lack of local evidence of any accidents is extremely questionable
particularly when existing traffic flows are low. The proposals would increase the turning
movements at the junction by 50% that in turn would make the accident risk much
greater. The approach taken by the Authority of nothing happened yet and therefore nothing
will happen in the future is extremely worrying. Traffic movements will increase if the
application were to be allowed and accidents and serious accidents may follow, as the
junction is significantly substandard. I would suggest there is no need for the Authority to
take such a risk of such accidents occurring and refuse planning permission which would
intensify the use of such a substandard access.

3.59

In conclusion the reasoning given by the Highway Authority not to object to the scheme are
contrary to earlier views expressed and are based on research which is irrelevant and should
not be applied in this instance.

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS

6.1

The proposed development would involve the demolition of the existing stable building to the
eastern perimeter, and the change of use of the land to 2no. additional pitches to the north
of the existing built form, including 2no. parking spaces, and a bin store.
Principle of Development

6.2

Policy 21 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF) indicates that provision shall
be made for 39 permanent pitches to 2017, with further provision made from 2017 to 2031
through a Site Allocations Development Plan Document (DPD). As part of this policy, the
application site was allocated for a total of 3no. pitches. At the time of adoption, the site
benefitted from 3no. established pitches, albeit that these were subject of personal
occupancy conditions. The preamble to the policy outlines at paragraph 8.7 that “the majority
of the sites identified are existing Gypsy and Traveller sites that are either subject to
temporary or personal planning permissions, or are currently unauthorised. It is considered
that these sites offer an immediate opportunity to meet the current identified accommodation
need.” It was envisioned that the personal permissions on the established pitches on the site
could be removed so that the existing pitches could contribute to the identified needs in the
District.

Page 30

6.3

Notwithstanding this allocation, it is acknowledged that a number of other sites allocated
through Policy 21 of the HDPF have yet to come forward, and the Council is therefore
currently unable to demonstrate an up-to-date 5 year supply of deliverable sites.

6.4

In line with Policy 21 of the HPDF, the Council began preparation of a revised Gypsy,
Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Draft Site Allocations Development Plan Document–
Preferred Strategy in 2017. This set a pitch requirement for 60 gypsy pitches over a ten year
period (up to 2027), and a 15 year requirement for 78 pitches. The 10 year requirement,
which is essential, includes a backlog of 40 gypsy pitches, a need for 1 pitch in years 1-5
(2017-2022) and a requirement for a further 19 pitches between 2022-2027. This document
initially identified a supply of 68 gypsy pitches to meet the 10 year requirement need for 60
pitches. However, following the drafting of this DPD, the site at Bromeliad Nursery,
Billingshurst was withdrawn, which meant the removal of 15 pitches from the 68 pitches
identified. On this basis a supply of 60 pitches over the 10 year plan period (up to 2027) could
not be demonstrated, and the document did not proceed to formal submission or adoption.

6.5

Most recently, the Council has progressed work on an updated Gypsy and Traveller
Accommodation Needs Assessment in order to understand the latest position, and to
develop an appropriate Gypsy and Traveller Policy as part of the Local Plan Review.
Consultants were appointed in March 2019 to research the number of pitches currently in
use in the District, as well as to identify what the current need for Gypsies and Travellers in
the District is likely to be over the next 17 years. In January 2020, the ‘Gypsy and Traveller
Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) – Final Report’ was published. This Report was part of
the background evidence base that accompanies the Local Plan Review (Regulation 18)
Consultation which ran from February to March 2020. The GTAA Report provides an
evidence base for the provision new Gypsy and Traveller pitches and Travelling Showpeople
plots for the period 2019 to 2036. The GTAA identifies that there is a need for 93 pitches for
Gypsy and Traveller households over the plan period (2019-2036). Neither the GTAA nor the
Regulation 19 Local Plan Consultation document considers sites for potential allocation.

6.6

In August 2015, the Government published its Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS) to
be read alongside the NPPF. Paragraph 22 of the PPTS confirms that applications for
planning permission be determined in accordance with the provisions of the Development
Plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Paragraph 23 of the PPTTS
continues to confirm that applications involving traveller sites must be assessed in
accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable development, and the application
of specific policies contained within the PPTS and NPPF relating to traveller sites. Paragraph
24 of the PPTS provides that Local Planning Authority’s must consider the following issues,
amongst other relevant matters, in the determination of applications for traveller sites:a)
b)
c)
d)

The existing level of local provision and need for sites;
The availability (or lack) of alternative accommodation for the applicants;
Other personal circumstances of the applicant;
That the locally specific criteria used to guide the application of sites in plans or which
form the policy where there is no identified need for pitches/plots should be used to
assess applications that may come forward on unallocated sites;
e) That they should determine applications for sites from any travellers and not just those
with local connections.
6.7

Paragraph 27 of the PPTS states that if a Local Planning Authority cannot demonstrate an
up-to-date 5 year supply of deliverable sites, this should be a significant material
consideration in any subsequent determination when considering applications for the grant
of temporary planning permission. An exception, however, exists for defined protected
landscapes, Sites of Special Scientific Interest or protected under the Birds and Habitats
Directive.

Page 31

6.8

In the absence of an adopted DPD, Horsham District Council is unable to demonstrate a 5
year supply of Gypsy and Traveller pitches. In accordance with Paragraph 27 of the PPTS,
the absence of such a supply is a significant material consideration, and this weighs in favour
of granting planning permission for the proposed development, subject to compliance with
other relevant planning policies.

6.9

Policy C of the PPTS relates to sites in rural areas and the countryside, with paragraph 14
stating that “when assessing the suitability of sites in rural or semi-rural settings, local
planning authorities should ensure that the scale of such sites does not dominate the nearest
settled community”. Paragraph 25 of the PPTS continues that local planning authorities
“should very strictly limit new traveller site development in open countryside that is away from
existing settlements or outside areas allocated in the development plan. Local planning
authorities should ensure that sites in rural areas respect the scale of, and do not dominate,
the nearest settled community, and avoid placing an undue pressure on the local
infrastructure”.

6.10

Policy 26 of the HDPF states that outside built-up area boundaries, the rural character and
undeveloped nature of the countryside will be protected against inappropriate development.
Any proposal must be essential to its countryside location, and in addition meet one of the
following criteria: support the needs of agriculture or forestry; enable the extraction of
minerals or the disposal of waste; provide for quiet informal recreational use; or enable the
sustainable development or rural areas. In addition, proposals must be of a scale appropriate
to its countryside character and location. Development will be considered acceptable where
it does not lead, either individually or cumulatively, to a significant increase in the overall level
of activity in the countryside, and protects, and/or conserves, and/or enhances, the key
features and characteristics of the landscape character area in which it is located.

6.11

Policy 1 of the draft Pulborough Neighbourhood Plan states that development proposals
outside of the built-up area boundary will be required to conform to development plan policies
in respect of the control of development in the countryside.

6.12

The application site is located within a small cluster of residential dwellings comprising the
unclassified settlement of Nutbourne Common, and located approximately 1km and 1.7km
from the built-up areas of West Chiltington Common and Pulborough respectively. The wider
surroundings are characterised by open countryside and woodland, with the unclassified
settlements of Nutbourne and Marehill located to the north and west respectively.

6.13

The application initially sought permission for an additional 4no. pitches, with amendments
received during the consideration of the application to reduce the number of pitches being
proposed to 2. This followed concerns raised regarding the intensification of use given the
total number of pitches proposed, and the subsequent increase in the level of activity within
the countryside setting. In particular, it was noted that the immediate surrounds are
characterised by limited and sporadic residential development, and while the proposal would
not be isolated in the truest sense, there were concerns that the proposed number of pitches,
when considered cumulatively with the existing, would over-dominate the unclassified
settlement. The proposed number of pitches were therefore considered to be
disproportionate in scale to the existing cluster of dwellings within the immediate vicinity, and
was considered to dominate the existing sporadic residential development of the locality.

6.14

The application now seeks permission for an addition 2no. gypsy pitches. These are put
forward to assist in meeting the long term needs for Gypsy pitches within the District, and
have not been put forward to meet the needs of the existing Owner and his family. The
existing and established development on the site comprises 2no. gypsy pitches and 1no.
residential dwelling, with the additional 2no. pitches result in a total of 5no. residential units
on the site. The 2no. pitches would be located centrally in the site, immediately to the north
of an existing pitch with the northern portion of the site remaining undeveloped.

Page 32

6.15

It is recognised that the application site is allocated for a total of 3no. pitches under Policy 21
of the HDPF. As outlined within this policy, the site is allocated in order to help fulfil the current
backlog of unmet need and future need. The site currently comprises a total of 2no. gypsy
pitches along with an unrestricted residential dwelling. As the number of pitches on the site
falls below the number of pitches allocated within Policy 21 of the HDPF the principle of an
additional pitch would be compliant with the relevant policy within the HDPF. It must
therefore be considered whether the additional pitch beyond that identified in policy 21, and
as proposed by this application, would be contrary to any relevant planning policy.

6.16

It is recognised that there is a lack of deliverable sites for gypsies and travellers, and there
remains an identified need for such accommodation within the District. These matters are of
significant weight in the consideration of the application, where Paragraph 27 of the PPTS
states that “if a local planning authority cannot demonstrate an up-to-date 5 year supply of
deliverable sites, this should be a significant material considered in any subsequent planning
decision when considering applications for the grant of temporary planning permission”.

6.17

The application site is in an established use for gypsy accommodation, where the principle
of such use has been previously agreed. While the proposed development would be located
outside of a defined built-up area, and would therefore be located within a countryside
location, the proposed pitches would relate appropriately to existing development on the
application site, which itself is located within a cluster of existing residential development.
The proposed increase of 2no. pitches is not considered to result in a significant
intensification in use on the site, with the cumulative number of pitches considered
proportionate to the cluster of residential properties surrounding the site. The application site
comprises an established site for gypsy accommodation, where the principle of such use is
generally considered acceptable, and this is a material consideration of weight. The
proposed development is considered to respect the scale of the nearest settled community,
and would not over-dominate the surroundings.

6.18

While the proposed development would be located within a countryside location where there
is generally a presumption against development, it is recognised that the site is allocated for
a total of 3no. pitches under Policy 21 of the HDPF. The proposed development would result
in a total of 4no. gypsy pitches on the site. The addition of 2no. pitches on the established
site is not considered to result in a demonstrable or harmful intensification, with the total
number of units considered to be of a scale that would not over-dominate the surroundings
cluster of residential dwellings. There is an overriding need for gypsy pitches within the
District, and this is of significant weight in the consideration of the proposal. Given the existing
site allocation, the modest addition of 1no. pitch above the defined allocated number, and
when considered against the unmet and identified need within the District, it is considered
on balance that the proposed development is acceptable in principle, subject to all other
material considerations.
Sustainable Development

6.19

Policy 23 of the HDPF outlines the criteria that must be considered when determining
planning applications for non-allocated sites. These provisions include that the site is located
in or near to existing settlements, within reasonable distance of a range of local services and
community facilities, in particular schools and essential health services.

6.20

Paragraph 13 of the PPTS states that Local Planning Authorities should ensure that traveller
sites are sustainable economically, socially and environmentally. Paragraph 25 continues
that Local Planning Authorities should very strictly limit new Traveller site development in
open countryside that is away from existing settlements or outside areas allocated in the
Development Plan. Local planning authorities should ensure that sites in rural areas respect
the scale of, and do not dominate, the nearest settled community, and avoid placing an undue
pressure on the local infrastructure.

Page 33

6.21

The sustainability of the site has been considered by the previous applications on the site as
listed in the Planning History section above. These applications have concluded that
although the site is not ideally located for schools, shops, and other services, it is within
acceptable limits and sustainable within the wider sense. In addition, the application site is
not considered to be particularly isolated owing to the number of residential dwellings located
in the immediate vicinity.

6.22

The spatial and policy context of the site has not changed considerably since these previous
application. It is therefore considered that the conclusions of the previous planning approvals
remains of relevance and significant weight. On this basis, the application site is considered
to be in a sustainable location for a gypsy site, and is considered to accord with the relevant
criteria of the HDPF in this regard.
Landscape Character

6.23

The importance given to the continued protection of rural areas remains a key policy criteria
in assessing new gypsy and traveller sites. The PPTS states that Local Planning Authorities
should “very strictly limit new traveller site development in open countryside that is away from
existing settlements or outside areas allocated in the development plan”. Furthermore, it
advises that any sites in rural areas respect the scale of, and do not over-dominate, the
nearest settled community.

6.24

Paragraph 26 of the PPTS advises Local Planning Authorities to attach weigh to the following
matters when considering new gypsy site proposals:a)
b)
c)
d)

effective use of previously developed land (brownfield), untidy or derelict land;
sites being well planned or soft landscaped in such a way as to positively enhance
the environment and increase its openness;
promoting opportunities for healthy lifestyles, such as ensuring adequate landscaping
and play areas for children;
not enclosing a site with so much hard landscaping, high walls or fences, that the
impression may be given that the site and its occupants are deliberately isolated from
the rest of the community.

6.25

The application site is located within the Pulborough, Chiltington and Thakeham Farmlands
Landscape Character Area, as defined in the West Sussex Landscape Character
Assessment. The area is described as an undulating mixed farmland landscape of arable
and horticulture, with small areas of pasture. It has a varied hedgerow pattern, fragmented
in parts with a few small woodlands. The leafy sunken lanes and orchards are particularly
distinctive features. Essentially the area retains a rural character, but there is localised visual
intrusion from derelict nurseries and small scale industrial uses. The key issues facing this
Landscape Character Area include, among others, pressure for housing and commercial
development, and increasing tragic on some minor roads. The application site generally
reflects this character and features, with the site historically comprising an agricultural
paddock, set behind the leafy sunken lane of Nutbourne Road. The Planning and Land
Management Guidelines seek to, among others, conserve the character of the leafy sunken
lanes of the area, conserve and manage existing hedgerow patterns, and restore hedgerows
and plant new hedgerow trees.

6.26

The site comprises a triangular piece of land that is oriented from north to south, with an
additional rectangular piece of land extending to the east. The site was historically used as
an agricultural paddock and has most recently been used for 3no. gypsy pitches (and now 2
pitches and 1 dwelling). These pitches are located to the eastern, southern, and western
boundaries of the site, with a number of outbuildings also located along the boundary. The
wider site to the north remains undeveloped and is maintained in grass cover, with the
boundaries of the site consisting of mature trees and scrub. The wider surroundings include

Page 34

a cluster of residential dwellings with associated residential curtilages, with open countryside
beyond.
6.27

The proposed development would involve the demolition of the existing stable building to the
eastern perimeter, and the creation of 2no. additional pitches immediately adjacent to an
existing pitch, with the northern portion of the land retain in its current state. The proposal
would include the laying of hardstanding to provide access and parking, with each itch
benefitting from an area of amenity space.

6.28

As amended, the proposed 2no. additional pitches would be located immediately adjacent
to existing development on the site, with the northern portion of the land retained in its current
undeveloped state.

6.29

The application site is well screened from wider public views by dense vegetation. It is
recognised that the site is located on higher ground than the surrounding properties, with the
perimeter of the site comprising a steep and vegetated bank. It is acknowledged that
concerns have been raised by the Parish Council and neighbouring properties regarding the
impact the proposed development would have on the character of the wider area, with
specific reference made to the impact resulting from the ground level difference.

6.30

The proposed development would be located centrally within the site, with the existing
mature boundary vegetation retained. The development would replace an existing building
and would be located immediately adjacent to an existing pitch. The proposed development
would therefore be read in the context of existing built form, with the reduction in the number
and spread of pitches considered to limit further encroachment across the site. The
development would be confined to a modest area, which given the dense vegetation along
the perimeter, and when coupled with the banked nature of the site, would not be perceptible
from wider public view. The proposed development is not therefore considered to result in
significant visual impact, with number and siting of the pitches considered to be of an
appropriate scale to reflect the characteristics and build pattern of the surrounding cluster of
residential dwellings. The proposal is therefore considered to accord with Policies 23, 25, 26,
32, and 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
Amenity Impacts

6.32

Policy 23 of the HDPF states that development will not have an unacceptable impact on the
amenity of neighbouring properties, and is sensitively designed to mitigate any impact on its
surroundings.

6.33

Policy 33 of the HDPF continues that development should be designed to avoid unacceptable
harm to the amenity of occupiers/users of nearby property and land, for example through
overlooking or noise, whilst having regard to the sensitivities of surrounding development.

6.33

The application site is located within a cluster of residential dwellings and associated
curtilages, with residential properties located to the north-west, south, and east of the site.
The application site is however enclosed by mature trees and scrub so that the neighbouring
properties are not visible from with the site.

6.34

Given this context, it is considered that the additional pitches would not result in unacceptable
harm through overlooking, loss of light, or loss of privacy. It is however recognised that the
proposed development would result in an increase in activity and vehicle movements, and it
is necessary to consider the potential conflict that may arise. In particular, the resulting
vehicle movements would be channelled through the existing access track that runs along
the western perimeter of the site. This access drive is located in close relation to the
neighbouring property of Inglenook Cottage to the north-west, and has the potential to impact
this property though noise and activity. It is however recognised that this property is raised
above the access drive, with the drive itself appearing as a sunken lane. It is considered that

Page 35

this arrangement would be sufficient to ensure that the additional movements would not be
overtly perceptible, and would not result in unacceptable harm.
6.35

In balancing the considerations, the proposed development is not considered to result in
significant adverse harm to the amenities of neighbouring properties, in accordance with
Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
Highways Impacts

6.36

Policy 40 of the HDPF seeks to direct development to areas which are integrated with
sustainable transport networks, encourage sustainable transport choices and ensure that
new development is safe for all modes of transport, including vehicles, cyclists and
pedestrians. In addition, proposals should minimise conflict between traffic, cyclists and
pedestrians. Policy 41 of the HDPF aims to ensure that developments are served by
adequate parking facilities including provision for cycle, motorcycle, low emission vehicles
and the mobility impaired.

6.37

The existing vehicle access has been considered under previous permissions references
DC/10/0586 and DC/17/2564. As part of these applications it was recognised that the access
had been established for some time and appeared to be functioning adequately. In
consultation for the most recent application (ref: DC/17/2564) the Local Highway Authority
stated:
“An assessment has been made by the LHA as to what splays are achievable with
the use of land under the control of the applicant or that considered public highway.
The applicant does not appear have any land ownership east and west of the access
point, and the extent of the highway boundary in this location is limited to the ‘toe of
the bank’. This detail has been confirmed with the WSCC Highway boundary officer.
With this evidence in mind the LHA has visited the site and does not consider that
splays in accordance with what has been conditioned, or what was intended to be
conditioned, could be achieved.
On site ‘available’ visibility to the east extended to circa 70 metres. To the west
‘available’ visibility extended to circa 20 metres. In both directions it is anticipated
that this available visibility required the use of 3rd party land as discussed above.
On site approach speeds were estimated to be 25 mph westbound and 30 mph
eastbound. As such the adequacies of the access point would be assessed against
the principles and guidance within Manual for Streets.
The LHA has to also take into consideration that the access has been operating on
its current basis for 7 years. I have checked the most recently available verified
accident records, which reveals there have been no personal injury accidents in the
vicinity of the existing point of access.
Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states “Development should only be prevented or refused
on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are
severe”.
Taking into consideration all the evidence outlined above, irrespective of visibility
splays achievable or otherwise, the LHA does not considers that a severe residual
impact could be substantiated; this raises No Objection to this application.”

6.38

The application initially sought permission for an additional 4no. gypsy pitches on the site,
which would have resulted in a total of 7no. residential units on the site. The initial

Page 36

consultation from WSCC Highways outlined that the proposal would result in an anticipated
intensification of use of the existing access. In order to adequately assess the application,
further information was requested to demonstrate maximum achievable visibility at the
access, where these splays must be drawn to the nearest carriageway edge in each direction
and only utilise land that is within the Applicant’s ownership or comprises publicly maintained
highway. It was also necessary to support these visibility splays with a 7-day speed survey
to determine the 85th percentile speeds in each direction in order to determine whether the
access is safe and functional.
6.39

Further information was submitted by the Applicant in the form of a Transport Note by Motion.
The Transport Note considers the addition of 4no. gypsy pitches, which as outlined within
the Report, is considered to generate a negligible increase in traffic flow. Visibility splays of
60m have been show to the east to reflect the upper limit of Manual for Streets guidance,
and is considered robust given the 20mph speed limit along the eastern stretch of Nutbourne
Road. This splay incorporates an area of land which was not presented as within the
ownership of the Applicant for previous applications. Visibility splays of 29m have been
shown, making use of the verge, and this falls below the anticipated 43m as outlined within
the Manual for Streets.

6.40

A Highway Safety Report was also submitted as a representation on behalf of the local
residents. This Report outlines that the 85th percentile speed of eastbound traffic within the
vicinity of the access is 32mph, which in accordance with the Manual for Streets, would
require a visibility splay of 45m to the west. The access currently provides a visibility splay
of 9m to the west, with the Report outlining that the required 45m visibility splay would
encroach upon third party land and could not therefore be achieved. The Report concludes
that adding an additional 4no. residential units would significantly increase traffic movements
to and from the access, with the inadequacy of the access/junction likely to pose an
unacceptable highway safety risk upon the occupiers, as well as users of the pubic highway.
A subsequent rebuttal to the Transport Note submitted by the Applicant was also submitted
on behalf of residents. This outlines that the Transport Consultant has incorrectly assessed
the available and achievable visibility slay at the access, and have also underestimated the
impact of a doubling of traffic movements on the safety of the access and adjoining highway.
It is concluded that the visibility splay of 9m and the doubling of traffic movements would
constitute an unacceptable intensification due to highway safety at the substandard access.

6.41

Amendments were received during the consideration of the application, which reduced the
proposal to an additional 2no. pitches. The Local Highways Authority was consulted on this
amendment, with the additional Transport Note and Highway Safety Report (and subsequent
rebuttal) also forwarded to the Local Highways Authority for comment.

6.42

The Local Highways Officer has considered the Transport Note provided by the Applicant,
as well as the Highway Safety Report and subsequent documents provided on behalf of
residents. The visibility splays demonstrated to the east, as indicated within the Transport
Note, extend to 60m, and are considered sufficient for the anticipated speeds in the location.
It is recognised that this achievable visibility splay now utilises land that was previously
outside of the development site, however there is no evidence available to suggest that this
land is not within the control of the Applicant. On this basis, it is considered that an
appropriate visibility splay is achievable to the east.

6.43

It is however recognised that the achievable visibility splay to the west is limited. As outlined
within the consultation response, the Transport Note demonstrates that 29m visibility is
achievable to the west, however this splay is not within the Applicant’s own land or publicly
maintainable highway, and passes through third party land. The existing bank in this location
obstructs visibility to the west for vehicles waiting to egress the site, and the noted visibility
splays are not therefore considered achievable or securable. The Transport Note also does
not support the proposed 29m splays with speed survey data, with the splay plan also
indicating that the left side of a vehicle’s bonnet would protrude into the carriageway.

Page 37

6.44

The Highway Safety Report conducted on behalf of local residents is accompanied by a
speed survey undertaken on 5 January 2021, which observes 85th percentile speeds of
32mph. The Local Highways Officer recognises that the speed survey has its limitations in
regards to having been conducted over a period of just 1-2 hours and only providing 50 data
points. As such, the Local Highways Officer does not consider this an accurate
representation of the 85th percentile vehicle speeds in this location, but this information does
correspond with the Local Highways Authority’s previous site visit observations of
approximately 30mph in the eastbound direction. As outlined within the Manual for Streets,
speeds of 32mph would require splays of 47.1m, which as discussed above, would not be
achievable in this location.

6.45

A visibility splay plan provided within the Highway Safety Report submitted on behalf of local
residents indicates that a splay of 9m is achievable to the west of the access, at a distance
of 2.4m X distance perpendicular to Nutbourne Road. The Local Highways Officer agrees
that this is an accurate representation of visibility in the location.

6.46

While the reduced visibility splay to the west is acknowledged, the Local Highways Authority
recognises that the existing access is utilised by 4no. existing dwellings, with the reduced
scheme to provide an additional 2no. pitches not considered to result in a significant
intensification of use of the access. Therefore, it is outlined that an objection on visibility
grounds given that the access is established and has operated for some-time without
evidence of highway safety concerns, could not be justified. In addition, it is noted that there
have been no recorded injury accidents within the vicinity of the site over the past 5 years.
For this reason, the Local Highways Authority concludes that, in its views, the proposal would
not have an unacceptable impact on highway safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts
on the operation of the highway network, and that accordingly there are no transport grounds
to resist the proposal.

6.47

The approach of the Local Highways Authority is consistent with the comments received in
respect of earlier applications, where it was concluded that while the existing access had
limited visibility splays, it had operated for a period of time without incident.

6.48

Paragraph 32 of the NPPF outlines that development should only be prevented or refused
on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe. It is
recognised that the proposed development would result in a cumulative increase in the
number of residential units utilising the access, and this would result in an increase in the
number of vehicle movements to and from the site. However, as concluded within the
consultation response from the Local Highways Authority, this is not considered to be a
significant intensification, with the anticipated vehicle movements not considered to result in
a severe cumulative impacts on the operation of the highway network. Given these
conclusions, it is not considered that a refusal reason on the grounds of highway safety could
be justified. The transport impacts of the proposal are therefore considered acceptable.
Climate Change

6.49

Policies 35, 36 and 37 require that development mitigates to the impacts of climate change
through measures including improved energy efficiency, reducing flood risk, reducing water
consumption, improving biodiversity and promoting sustainable transport modes. These
policies reflect the requirements of Chapter 14 of the NPPF that local plans and decisions
seek to reduce the impact of development on climate change. Should the proposal be
considered acceptable, the following measures to build resilience to climate change and
reduce carbon emissions would be imposed by condition:-

Dedicated refuse and recycling storage capacity
Cycle parking facilities
Electric vehicle charging points

Page 38

6.50

Subject to these conditions the application will suitably reduce the impact of the development
on climate change in accordance with local and national policy.
Other Matters

6.51

Southern Water initially raised concerns regarding the proximity of the proposed pitches to a
water main, which from the mapping system available, transects the site. The response
outlined that the location of the pipes must be determined before the layout of the
development is finalised, and outlined the required buffer zones to ensure that Southern
Water apparatus is protected from development and landscaping.

6.52

The Applicant submitted an amended plan to re-site the proposed pitches, taking
consideration of the location of the pipes and the relevant buffer zones. The mobile homes
for the 2no. proposed pitches are now located outside of the relevant buffer zones, with only
hard surfacing for associated access and paring proposed within the buffer zone. Southern
Water have requested to be a liaison relating to landscaping proposals in proximity to their
apparatus, and this is recommended within the relevant condition.

6.53

Following the receipt of the amended plan, the proposed development would be located
outside of the Southern Water and associated buffer zones as shown by the map extract,
and it is therefore considered that the concerns of Southern Water have been adequately
addressed.
Conclusion

6.54

The Council do not have a 5-year land supply for gypsy sites, and at present there remains
an identified undersupply of available sites within the District. It is therefore recognised that
the proposal would go some way to addressing the identified need. This is a material
consideration of significant weight in the balance. Furthermore, it is recognised that the site
is allocated within Policy 21 of the HDPF for a total of 3no. pitches, with the current
application seeking to provide a total of 4no. pitches on the site. While this would result in an
additional pitch above that allocated the HDPF should not be seen as setting a limit or cap
on development which is otherwise acceptable in planning terms.

6.55

As recognised as part of previous planning approvals, while the site is located at a distance
from facilities and services it is within acceptable limits and sustainable within the wider
sense. In addition, the application site is not considered to be particularly isolated owing to
the number of residential dwellings located in the immediate vicinity. On the balance of these
considerations, the application site is considered to be in a relatively sustainable location for
a gypsy site, and is considered to accord with the relevant criteria of the HDPF in this regard.

6.57

The application site is well screened from wider public views by dense vegetation, and while
recognised that the site is located on higher ground than the surrounding properties, with the
perimeter of the site comprising a steep and vegetated bank, the development would not be
visible from wider public views. The development would be located immediately adjacent to
existing built form, and would be read in this context, with the northern portion of the site
retained in its undeveloped state. Given the spatial context of the site, which itself is read in
the context of the surrounding cluster of residential dwellings, it is not considered that the
proposal would result in adverse harm to the landscape character and visual amenity of the
rural setting to justify a reason for refusal on landscape grounds.

6.58

The proposed development would be located away from residential properties, with the
mature boundary vegetation screening the development from view. Given this spatial
context, the proposed development is not considered to result in unacceptable harm to the
amenities and sensitivities of neighbouring properties.

Page 39

6.59

The application site benefits from a long-established access from Nutbourne Road which has
been subject of consideration throughout the evolution of the site. It is recognised that
visibility from the access has been substandard, particularly to the west, with the maximum
achievable visibility splay below that recommended within the Manual for Streets. However,
the Local Highways Authority, having previously undertaken a site visit, have affirmed that
the access functions adequately, with no evidence to suggest that it has not previously
operated unsafely.

6.60

The current application has been subject of extensive and detailed assessment by the Local
Highways Authority, which has included a review of transport information submitted by the
Applicant and Highway Safety Reports submitted on behalf of the local residents. In
considering this information, the Local Highways Authority has recognised that the visibility
splays to the west are approximately 9m, which is below the anticipated splay of 45m as
advised by the traffic speeds in the vicinity of the access. In weighing the relevant matters,
which include the traffic speeds in the vicinity, the road layout, the established nature of the
access, and the modest increase of use on the access, the Local Highways Authority has
determined that a refusal reason on highway safety grounds could not be justified.

6.61

It is acknowledged that the proposal would likely increases vehicle movements to and from
the site, however as outlined within the response of the Local Highways Authority, this is not
considered to be a significant intensification that would result in severe cumulative impacts
on the operation of the highway network. The access is long established and appears to be
functioning adequately, albeit that the visibility splays are limited, and given this context the
Local Highways Authority has concluded that it does not consider that the proposal would
have an unacceptable impact on highway safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts on
the operation of the highway network. No objections on highways grounds have therefore
been raised, and on this basis, a refusal reason on the grounds of highway safety could not
be justified.

6.62

On the balance of all considerations, the development is therefore considered to be
compliant with relevant policies of the Horsham District Planning Framework, and all other
relevant local and national planning policies.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

That the application is approved subject to the following conditions.
1

A list of the approved plans and documents

2

Standard Time Condition: The development hereby permitted shall begin before
the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until a drainage
strategy detailing the proposed means of foul and surface water disposal has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that the development is properly
drained and to comply with Policy 38 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

4

Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: No development above ground floor
slab level of any part of the development hereby permitted shall take place until a
schedule of materials and finishes and colours to be used for external walls, windows

Page 40

and roofs of the approved development has been submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority in writing and all materials used in the construction of the
development hereby permitted shall conform to those approved.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to enable the Local Planning Authority to
control the development in detail in the interests of amenity by endeavouring to
achieve a building of visual quality in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).
5

Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: No development above ground floor
slab level of any part of the development hereby permitted shall take place until full
details of all hard and soft landscaping works shall have been submitted to and
approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority, in liaison with Southern Water.
The details shall include plans and measures addressing the following:
-

Details of all existing trees and planting to be retained
Details of all proposed trees and planting, including schedules specifying
species, planting size, densities and plant numbers and tree pit details
Details of all hard surfacing materials and finishes
Details of all boundary treatments

The approved landscaping scheme shall be fully implemented in accordance with the
approved details within the first planting season following the first occupation of any
part of the development. Unless otherwise agreed as part of the approved
landscaping, no trees or hedges on the site shall be wilfully damaged or uprooted,
felled/removed, topped or lopped without the previous written consent of the Local
Planning Authority until 5 years after completion of the development. Any proposed
or retained planting, which within a period of 5 years, dies, is removed, or becomes
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with
others of similar size and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives written
consent to any variation.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development that is sympathetic to the landscape
and townscape character and built form of the surroundings, and in the interests of
visual amenity in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).
6

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted shall be
occupied until the car parking spaces (including garages where applicable)
necessary to serve it have been constructed and made available for use in
accordance with approved drawing number 201124_001_r.1.The car parking spaces
permitted shall thereafter be retained as such for their designated use.
Reason: To provide car-parking space for the use in accordance with Policy 40 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

7

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted shall be
occupied until provision for the storage of refuse and recycling has been made for
that use in accordance with drawing number 201124_100_r.0. These facilities shall
thereafter be retained for use at all times.
Reason: To ensure the adequate provision of recycling facilities in accordance with
Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

8

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted shall be
occupied until the cycle parking facilities serving it have been constructed and made

Page 41

available for use in accordance with approved drawing number 201124_100_r.0. The
cycle parking facilities shall thereafter be retained as such for their designated use.
Reason: To ensure that there is adequate provision for the parking of cycles in
accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
9

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted shall be
occupied until a fast charge electric vehicle charging point for that dwelling has been
installed as indicated on plan reference 201124_100_r.0. As a minimum, the charge
point specification shall be 7kW mode 3 with type 2 connector. The means for
charging electric vehicles shall be thereafter retained as such.
Reason: To mitigate the impact of the development on air quality within the District
and to sustain compliance with and contribute towards EU limit values or national
objectives for pollutants in accordance with Policies 24 & 41 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015).

10

Regulatory Condition: No external lighting or floodlighting shall be installed other
than with the permission of the Local Planning Authority by way of formal application.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the locality and in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

11

Regulatory Condition: No works for the implementation of the development hereby
approved shall take place outside of 08:00 hours to 18:00 hours Mondays to Fridays
and 08:00 hours to 13:00 hours on Saturdays nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or
public Holidays.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

12

Regulatory Condition: This permission does not authorise use of the land as a
caravan site by any persons other than Gypsies and Travellers, as defined in Annex
1 of Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (Department for Communities and Local
Government 2015).
Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the use of the site and in
accordance with Policy 21, Policy 22 and Policy 23 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

13

Regulatory Condition: No more than 4 caravans (of static or mobile home type), as
defined in the Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960 and the Caravan
Sites Act 1968 (or any Act revoking or re-enacting these Acts), shall be stationed on
the site at any time. There shall be no more than four (4) touring caravans stationed
on site at any time and these shall not be occupied by any person at any time whilst
stationed on the application site.
Reason: To avoid an overcrowded appearance and to secure satisfactory standards
of space and amenity in accordance Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

14

Regulatory Condition: No industrial, commercial or business activity shall be
carried on from the site, including the storage of materials.
Reason: In the interests of amenity and in accordance with Policies 26 and 33 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Page 42

15

Regulatory Condition: No vehicle over 3.5 tonnes shall be stationed, parked or
stored on the site.
Reason: In the interests of amenity and in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).

16

Regulatory Condition: There shall be no burning on site at any time.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Background Papers: PL/39/02
DC/04/2554
DC/16/2873
DC/17/2564
DC/20/2497

Page 43

This page is intentionally left blank

06) DC/20/2497
Lane Top, Nutbourne Road, Pulborough, West Sussex, RH20 2HA
GP
22.9m

¯

Ludgates
Greystones

gart

App
le

Abin
ger
Mills
Houtone
se

h

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public

Marehill

28.7m

24.6m

NUTBOURNE ROAD

Ragmans Castle

Inglenook Cottage

Tinkers Green
Ol
d
Lane Top
ge

rs

Cr
o

Pu T
mphe
ho
us

Nutbourne Common
e

ft

1

Sunning Dale
Rise

32

Ba
d

Su E
b l
St
a

Bramfold House
Bramfold
Farm

The Old Malthouse
Malthouse Cottages

Rosary
Twitten Orchard
Bramfold Court
Goat Cottage
Nutbourne Ridge

Pa
th

Horsecroft Tanners

Scale: 1:2,500
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

15/04/2021

Page 45MSA Number

100023865

Hill View

This page is intentionally left blank

PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT ADDENDUM
TO:

Planning Committee South

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

27 April 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

Construction of 2No. additional settled gypsy accommodation site pitches

SITE:

Lane Top Nutbourne Road Pulborough West Sussex RH20 2HA

WARD:

Pulborough, Coldwaltham and Amberley

APPLICATION:

DC/20/2497

APPLICANT:

Name: Mr J Smith Address: Lane Top, Nutbourne Road Pulborough
RH20 2HA

1.

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1

To update Committee Members following the submission of addition objection letters and
representations.

2.

REPRESENTATIONS

2.1

An additional letter of representation by Richard Buxton Solicitors has been submitted in
response to the Committee Report. This relates specifically to the conclusions reached within
the Highways Impacts section of the Committee Report (paragraph 6.36 to 6.48) and
particularly the weight Officers have given to the consultation responses provided by the
Local Highways Authority.

2.2

Specifically, the letter rebuts the assertion that a refusal on the grounds of highway safety
could not be justified. The letter refutes the weight given to the limited evidence of accidents
in the vicinity of the site and the limited intensification in use of the access. Examples of case
law are provided, with the letter also drawing attention to the correct paragraph within the
NPPF. A copy of the letter is attached for reference.

3.

PLANNING ASSESSMENT

3.1

It has been drawn to the attention of Officers that the relevant paragraph of the NPPF has
been misquoted within paragraph 6.48 of the Committee Report, with the Report incorrectly
referring to paragraph 32, which has since been superseded by paragraph 109 of the
updated NPPF.

3.2

Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states:

Contact Officer: Tamara Dale

Page 47

Tel: 01403 215166

“Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be
an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road
network would be severe.”
3.3

The recently submitted letter has raised concerns regarding the weight given to the
consultation response provided by the Local Highways Authority, particularly with reference
to the conclusions of Officers as found within paragraph 6.48 of the Committee Report.

3.4

As outlined in detail within the consultation responses provided by WSCC Highways, and as
summarised within sections 3 and 6 of the Committee Report, the Local Highways Authority
acknowledge that the existing and established access arrangement offers a reduced visibility
to the splays usually anticipated and recommended within the Manual for Streets. However,
in considering the context of the site, the Local Highways Authority has given weight to the
long-established nature of the access, the limited intensification in use of the access, and
the limited evidence of traffic accidents within proximity of the site. This approach is
consistent with the comments received for previous applications at the site, where it has
been concluded that while the existing access had limited visibility splays, it has operated for
a period of time without incident. The Local Highways Authority subsequently concluded that
while the proposed development would result in a cumulative increase in the number of
residential units utilising the access, and would subsequently result in an increase in the
number of vehicle movements to and from the site, this is not considered to be a significant
intensification; with the anticipated vehicle movements not considered to result in severe
cumulative impacts on the operation of the highway network.

3.5

The final conclusions of the Local Highways Authority are based upon a full and objective
analysis of evidence held by the Authority itself (including data collected during a site visit for
previous application reference DC/17/2564) and the analysis and evidence provided within
the Highway Safety Report and rebuttals submitted by Bellamy Roberts on behalf of
Nutbourne residents. Furthermore, as referenced within paragraph 3.17 of the
accompanying Committee Report, the final comments have been based on a consideration
of the guidance within the Manual for Streets (as outlined in paragraph 3.17 of the Committee
Report).

3.6

Schedule 4 of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 outlines that the Local Highways Authority is a consultee where
development is likely to result in a material increase in the volume or a material change in
the character of traffic entering or leaving a classified road. The comments of the Local
Highways Authority are therefore material in the appraisal of any proposed development,
and are of weight in the planning balance.

3.7

Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 outlines that in dealing with an
application for planning permission, the authority shall have regard to the provisions of the
development plan, so far as material to the application, and any other material
considerations. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 furthers
that “if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to
be made under the planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise”.

3.8

Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015) states that development will
be supported if it provides safe and suitable access for, among others, all vehicles,
pedestrians, and cyclists. In addition, as outlined above, paragraph 109 of the NPPF states
that development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would
be an unacceptable impact on highway safety or the residual cumulative impacts on the road
network would be severe.

3.9

As outlined, above, the conclusions of the Local Highway Authority are material to the
assessment of the development proposal and the planning balance conducted by Officers.

Page 48

The Local Highways Authority as a statutory consultee have raised no concerns with the
proposed development and access arrangement, and while recognising that the existing
visibility splay to the west is substandard, have given weight to the long-established nature
of the access and the modest intensification in use of the access arising from the proposed
development.
3.10

In considering the consultation response of the Local Highways Authority, who are a statutory
consultee with respect to development affecting an adopted road, and who themselves have
reviewed and appraised the various Highway Safety Reports and rebuttals submitted on
behalf of residents, Officers are of the view that the access is suitable, and the modest
addition in use of the access, when considered against the posted speed limit and character
of the road, would not result in unacceptable impact on highway safety or severe cumulative
impact on the highway network, in accordance with Policy 40 of the HDPF and paragraph
109 of the NPPF.

Page 49

This page is intentionally left blank

Horsham District Council
Parkside
Chart Way
Horsham
West Sussex
RH12 1RL
Attn. Tamara Dale, Case Officer
By email: Tamara.Dale@horsham.gov.uk
Copy to: planning@horsham.gov.uk
Your ref: DC/20/2497
Our ref: Pulborough Gypsy site
Email: lfoster@richardbuxton.co.uk
23 April 2021
Dear Sirs
Lane Top Nutbourne Road Pulborough West Sussex (“the Site”)
Construction of 2 No. additional gypsy site pitches (ref: DC/20/2497)
1. We write further to our previous correspondence on this matter. We have taken advice of
counsel, Andrew Parkinson, Landmark Chambers
2. We have reviewed the Officer’s Report recommending approval and have the following
comments to make regarding the assessment of the highways impacts of the proposal.
3. Our client’s other concerns (summarised in the objection letter from NJA Town Planning Ltd
dated 29 March 2021) still stand.
4. The Officer’s Report advises Members that because the Highway Authority has not raised
an objection “a refusal reason on the grounds of highway safety could not be justified”.
5. That is not correct.
6. First, whilst the advice of the Highway Authority is a material consideration for the Planning
Committee to take into account, it is not binding. It is well established in national guidance
that it is reasonable for a local planning authority to refuse an application in these
circumstances, provided that its reason for refusal is not based on “vague, generalised or
inaccurate assertions about a proposal’s impacts, which are unsupported by any objective
analysis” (see paragraph 49 of the Planning Practice Guidance on Appeals).
7. This guidance is not acknowledged in the Officer’s Report.

Page 51

8. Plainly, if the Planning Committee refused this application, that refusal would be supported
by objective analysis. In particular, our client has submitted four detailed technical notes
explaining why the access is unsafe: summarised at paragraphs 3.28-3.59 of the Officer’s
Report.
9. The last note (dated 14 April 2021) - see paragraphs 3.54-3.59 of the Officer’s Report responds in detail to the latest position of the Highway Authority. The contents of that note
are not substantively addressed either by the Highway Authority or in the Officer’s Report.
10. Therefore, a refusal on highways grounds would be supported by objective analysis and
would be reasonable.
11. Second, and in any event, decision-makers are entitled to apply common-sense even when
dealing with a technical matter such as highway safety: see Westminster Renslade Limited
v Secretary of State for the Environment [1984] 48 P&CR 255 at [261] to [263] and Catesby
Estates Limited v SSCLG [2016] EWHC 593 (Admin) at [10] and [120] to [123].
12. Here, it is agreed that visibility is substandard to the west of the access (where it is 2.4m x
9m compared with the recommended 2.4m x 47.1m set out in Manual for Streets).
13. Whilst the recommended distances in Manual for Streets are recommended, as the Highway
Authority points out, it is important to remember what these numbers mean. Based on normal
reaction times, a car travelling eastbound along Nutbourne Lane, travelling at the accepted
speed of 32 mph, and breaking in an emergency situation, would travel 25 metres between
first seeing an exiting car and stopping. The achievable visibility distance from the access is
just 9m.
14. Further, the departure from the recommended distances here is significant. Indeed, Mr.
Bellamy says in his report dated 30th March 2021 that in his experience (dealing with
thousands of planning applications dealing with Highway related matters) he has never
experienced a Highway Authority or a Planning Inspector to allow development to be granted
with a significantly substandard visibility splay at an access serving a site.
15. The Highway Authority has nevertheless said that it has no objection because there is no
history of accidents at the site, and there is not a “significant intensification” of the use of the
access.
16. The fact that there have been no accidents is not a decisive consideration. There are
numerous appeal decisions where Planning Inspectors have found an access to be unsafe
in those circumstances. For example, and this is just one example of many, in appeal
decision ref: 10/00582/COU, a Planning Inspector and the Secretary of State found that a
proposal to double the number of pitches on a gypsy and traveller site from 6 to 12 was
unsafe because: “…the absence of collisions does not, of itself, demonstrate the situation is
safe especially as the intention is to increase the number of pitches to 12”.
17. Further, applying common-sense, the lack of accidents to date cannot be decisive. An
accident relies on a combination of events happening at once (in particular, a car pulling out
of the access at the same time that a car is approaching). That combination of events may
not be a frequent occurrence on a lightly trafficked road.
18. However, it only needs to happen once for there to be fatal consequences. This combination
of events may not have happened yet. However, there can be no doubt that when it does
occur there will be a serious (and potentially fatal) accident. It would be reckless for the
Council to grant planning permission in those circumstances.
2

Page 52

19. That is particularly the case when the probability of that event occurring will increase as a
result of the grant of planning permission (with a 50% increase in flows at the sub-standard
access as a result of the increase in traffic of 2 pitches).
20. Finally, it is important to remember that that test is not whether the application will have a
severe impact on highways safety. The Officer’s Report at paragraph 6.48 says that the
relevant test in national planning policy is set out at paragraph 32 of the National Planning
Policy Framework (“the NPPF”). It is not. That is old policy that was superseded in 2018.
The relevant test is now set out at paragraph 109 of the NPPF. The relevant test is whether
the impact on safety is acceptable. Plainly, it is not for the reasons set out above.
21. The Officer’s Report refers in a number of places to the “residual cumulative impacts” of the
development not being “severe”. That is language that was used in paragraph 32 of the
NPPF, and has been retained in paragraph 109 of the NPPF. However, this severity test has
nothing to do with safety. It is about the congestion resulting from a development proposal.
No-one is suggesting that this proposal will lead to congestion. In reaching a judgment as to
whether the safety impact of the access is acceptable, Members should disregard the
question of whether the impact would be “severe”.
22. As it was put by Mr. Rhodri Price-Lewis QC (sitting as a Deputy High Court Judge) in
Mayowa-Emmanuel v Royal Borough of Greenwich [2015] EWHC 4076 (Admin) at para. 29:
“In my judgment, paragraph 32 of the National Planning Policy Framework that
the Claimant relies on under this ground 2 is addressing matters of highway
capacity and congestion. It is not concerned with highway safety considerations
in themselves. It cannot be, because it cannot be the case that the Government
considers anything other than severe impact on highway safety would be
acceptable, with would be the implication of the Claimant’s argument.”
23. That is important not just when considering the current application, but also when
considering how much weight Members can attach to the fact that it has previously granted
planning permission on the site.
24. The previous approval (ref: DC/17/2564) appears to have applied the wrong test and judged
whether the safety impact at the access would be severe: see para. 6.37 of the Officer’s
Report. In light of Mayowa-Emmanuel that was wrong.
25. In any event, it is trite law that the Planning Committee is not bound by its previous decisions:
North Wiltshire District Council v Secretary of State for the Environment (1993) 65 P & CR
137.
26. For all of these reasons, the application must be refused. This is a dangerously unsafe
access and the Planning Committee is being asked to increase the amount of traffic using it
by 50%. There is detailed technical evidence to justify a refusal. The achievable visibility
falls well short of the recommended figure. The Highway Authority may not raise an
objection, but that is not decisive. Given what is at stake here, permission should be refused,
so that a Planning Inspector can consider the competing arguments in detail.
Yours faithfully
Richard Buxton Solicitors
Environmental, Planning & Public Law
3

Page 53

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee South

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

27 April 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

Change of use to residential curtilage and the retention of a detached
garage

SITE:

Whiteoaks Shoreham Road Small Dole Henfield West Sussex BN5 9SD

WARD:

Henfield

APPLICATION:

DC/20/2355

APPLICANT:

Name: Mr Tracey Tingey
Dole BN5 9SD

Address: Whiteoaks, Shoreham Road Small

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: More than eight persons in different households
have made written representations within the
consultation period raising material planning
considerations that are inconsistent with the
recommendation of the Head of Development
and Building Control.
RECOMMENDATION:

To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions

1.

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT

1.1

To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.2

The application seeks full planning permission for the change of use of land to incidental
residential curtilage in association with the dwelling of Whiteoaks, and the retention of a
detached garage constructed to the north of the host dwelling.

1.3

The extended curtilage comprises an area of 0.02 hectares which extends to the north of the
existing access track. This area of land sits between a paddock to the east and a number of
rural buildings to the west, and is bound by closeboarded fencing. A barn / store was formerly
located on this land, with this having been removed and replaced with the garage subject of
the application.

1.4

The detached garage measures to length of 9.3m and a depth of 8.2m. The garage
incorporates a pitched roof measuring to an overall height of 6.2m, with 2no. pitched roof
dormers projecting from the front (south) elevation. The building is finished in timber cladding
and vertical tile hanging, with plain tiles to the roof and a brick plinth.

Contact Officer: Tamara Dale

Page 55

Tel: 01403 215166

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE
1.5

The application site is located to the west of Shoreham Road, outside of any designated
built-up area boundary. The site is therefore located within a countryside location in policy
terms.

1.6

The site is located within a ribbon development of residential dwellings located to the north
of the built-up area of Small Dole, with the wider surroundings characterised by open
countryside. A number of barn buildings are located to the north-west of the application site,
and these are under the ownership of the Applicant. Further to the north-west are 2no. gypsy
pitches subject of Enforcement Notice reference EN/18/0080.

1.6

The application site itself comprises an area of land to the north of the defined curtilage of
Whiteoaks and to the west of a paddock which appears to be associated with the
neighbouring property of Sunnydene. It is understood that this area was previously occupied
by a barn/store that was demolished to facilitate the constructed development.

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES
The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:

2.2

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

2.3

Horsham District Planning Framework (2015):
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 2 - Strategic Policy: Strategic Development
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 4 - Strategic Policy: Settlement Expansion
Policy 24 - Strategic Policy: Environmental Protection
Policy 25 - Strategic Policy: The Natural Environment and Landscape Character
Policy 26 - Strategic Policy: Countryside Protection
Policy 28 - Replacement Dwellings and House Extensions in the Countryside
Policy 31 - Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 35 - Strategic Policy: Climate Change
Policy 36 - Strategic Policy: Appropriate Energy Use
Policy 37 - Sustainable Construction
Policy 40 - Sustainable Transport
Policy 41 - Parking
Policy 42 - Strategic Policy: Inclusive Communities

2.4

Henfield Neighbourhood Plan
Policy 1 - A Spatial Plan
Policy 12 – Design Standards for New Development

2.5

Henfield Parish Design Statement

Page 56

2.6

PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
HF/34/55

Bungalow.
(From old Planning History)

Application Permitted on
05.10.1955

HF/48/85

Erection of agricultural dwelling.
Comment: Appeal dismissed 03/06/86

Application Refused on
18.10.1985

HF/47/87

Extension.
(From old Planning History)

Application Permitted on
21.07.1987

HF/39/93

Use of building for repair of lawnmowers
Site: Cedaridge Farm Woods Mill Henfield

Application Permitted on
06.08.1993

HF/3/96

Demolition of sun lounge and erection of conservatory
Site: Whiteoaks Shoreham Road Small Dole

Application Permitted on
28.02.1996

HF/28/96

Formation of a gable & erection of conservatory
Site: Whiteoaks Shoreham Road Small Dole

Application Permitted on
22.05.1996

DC/06/1945

Demolition of existing dwelling and outhouse and the
erection of 2 dwellings (Outline)

Application Refused on
09.10.2006

DC/15/1560

Proposed new dwelling, to replace the existing fire
damaged/ derelict property

Application Permitted on
17.09.2015

DC/16/0741

Proposed new dwelling, to replace the existing fire
damaged/ derelict property.

Application Permitted on
20.05.2016

DC/17/1396

Prior approval for a Change of Use from B8 (storage
or distribution centre) to dwellings (C3 Use Class)

Prior Approval Refused on
07.08.2017

DC/17/2239

Proposed change of use from a use falling within Class
B8 (storage or distribution centre) to dwellings (C3
Use class)
Prior Approval of Proposed Change of Use of
Agricultural Building to a Dwellinghouse (Use Class
C3), and for Associated Operational Development*
Full application for a proposed two pitch settled gypsy
accommodation site including personal occupancy
condition

Prior Approval Refused on
28.11.2017

DC/17/2244

DC/20/0813

Prior Approval Refused on
28.11.2017
Application Refused on
21.07.2020

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers have
had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the public
file at www.horsham.gov.uk

OUTSIDE AGENCIES
3.2

WSCC Highways: The Local Highways Authority does not consider that this proposal would
have an unacceptable impact on highway safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts on
the operation of the highway network, therefore is not contrary to the National Planning Policy
Framework (paragraph 109), and that there are no transport grounds to resist the proposal.
PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS

3.3

Henfield Parish Council: Objection as the development is contrary to Policies 28 and 33 of
the HDPF

Page 57

3.4

10 letters of objection were received from 8 separate households, and these can be
summarised as follows:
-

Use of the building as a residential dwelling
Large and dominant building
Overlooking
Precedent for residential development
Use of the roof space
Readily visible from public vantage points
Does not sit sympathetically with the surroundings
Loss of natural features
Light pollution
Outside of defined curtilage
Comply with Building Regulations

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS

6.1

The application seeks full planning permission for the change of use of land to be
incorporated as incidental residential curtilage to Whiteoaks, and the retention of a detached
double garage constructed to the north of the host dwelling.
Principle of Development

6.2

Policy 26 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF) states that outside built-up
area boundaries, the rural character and undeveloped nature of the countryside location will
be protected against inappropriate development. Any proposal must be essential to its
countryside location, and in addition meet one of the following criteria: support the needs of
agriculture or forestry; enable the extraction of minerals or the disposal of waste; provide for
quiet informal recreational use; or enable the sustainable development of rural areas. In
addition, proposals must be of a scale appropriate to its countryside character and location.
Development will be considered acceptable where it does not lead, either individually or
cumulatively, to a significant increase in the overall level of activity in the countryside, and
protects, and/or conserves, and/or enhances, the key features and characteristics of the
landscape character in which it is located.

6.3

Policy 1 of the Henfield Parish Neighbourhood Plan states that development proposals
outside of the defined built-up area boundaries will be supported where they conform, as
appropriate to their location in the neighbourhood area, to national, HDPF and South Downs
Local Plan policies in respect of development in the countryside.

6.4

The application seeks the change of use of the land to residential curtilage in connection with
the dwelling known as Whiteoaks, located to the south-east, along with the retention of a
detached double garage.

Page 58

6.5

This area of land has previously been occupied by a barn/store and has historically been
used in association with the agricultural land to the west. The extension to the residential
curtilage would result in some encroachment upon the agricultural land. It is however
recognised that this area of land is of limited agricultural value and is situated in close
proximity to the residential curtilages of Whiteoaks and the adjacent residential properties.
Furthermore, the land is separated from the wide countryside by the established barn
buildings, and these form a hard edge between the subject land and the wider agricultural
fields. On this basis, it is considered that the incorporation of this land into the existing
residential curtilage would have limited impact on the agricultural viability of the wider
countryside, and would not demonstrably harm the rural character of the countryside setting.
Furthermore, a residential use of this parcel is considered to result in a better environment
for the subject dwelling and the adjacent residential properties, and this is considered to
result in some public benefit. On the balance of these considerations, the principle of the
change of use to residential curtilage is therefore considered acceptable.

6.6

It is recognised that a number of objections have been received regarding the potential use
of the garage, and particularly whether the development would surmount to a separate and
independent residential dwelling.

6.7

The Applicant has outlined that there is no intention to utilise the building as a residential
annexe, with the loft space sought to provide domestic storage. While dormers are located
on the southern roof slope, following a site visit, the building does not benefit from either an
internal or external staircase, with the loft space primarily open with timber supports; albeit
that some boards have been laid.

6.8

Given this context, it is not considered that the development as constructed would be suitable
for additional residential occupation. While recognised that internal alterations to facilitate a
useable upper floor would not be subject of planning control, the use of the building for
ancillary purposes would be secured through condition. This would ensure that the building
was used in association with the existing residential dwelling of Whiteoaks and could not be
occupied as a separate use / dwelling. It is not unusual for buildings within the countryside
to benefit from ancillary accommodation within detached buildings, and subject to the
condition as suggested, it is considered that the principle of the detached garage is
acceptable.
Design and Appearance

6.9

6.10

6.11

Policies 25, 32, and 33 of the HDPF promote development that protects, conserves and
enhances the townscape character from inappropriate development. Proposal should take
into account townscape characteristics, with development seeking to provide an attractive,
functional and accessible environment that complements the locally distinctive character of
the district. Buildings should contribute to a sense of place, and should be of a scale,
massing, and appearance that is of a high standard or design and layout which relates
sympathetically to the landscape and built surroundings.
Policy 12 of the Henfield Parish Neighbourhood Plan states that as appropriate to their scale,
nature and location, development proposals will be supported where their design and
detailing meet the relevant requirements in the Henfield Parish Design Statement. In
addition, development proposals should be of a high quality that reflects the scale of the
surroundings buildings and street scene/landscape.
Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should ensure that developments
function well and add to the overall quality of the area; are visually attractive as a result of
good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping; are sympathetic to local
character and history, including the surrounding built environment and landscape setting;
establish a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, spaces, building types
and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live, work and visit;

Page 59

optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount and
mix of development; and create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible.
6.12

The garage as constructed measures to a length of 9.3m and a depth of 8.2m, and
incorporates a pitched roof measuring to an overall height of 6.2m. Two pitched roof dormers
project from the front (south) elevation, and the building is finished in timber cladding and
vertical tile hanging, with plain tiles to the roof and a brick plinth.

6.13

It is recognised that a number of objections have been received regarding the scale and
dominance of the garage building, and the impact this has on wider views.

6.14

The garage extends to an overall height of 6.2m and projects above the ridge line of the
adjacent barn. While the garage is read in the context of the existing barn building, which
helps to reduce its physical presence, the garage is overtly domestic in appearance and
form. This creates a distinct juxtaposition between the utilitarian buildings to the north-west
and the domestic building as constructed. It is however recognised that the application site
is located within the context of both residential and utilitarian buildings, and is sited within
general proximity to the residential dwelling of Whiteoaks. As such, the garage is read within
this wider context and understood against the backdrop of the surrounding residential
development. In addition, the garage is not readily apparent from public vantage points,
which due to its setback and siting, does not impact the visual amenity of the street scene.

6.15

The building would generally be anticipated within a residential environment, and given the
context of the surroundings, which comprises a number of detached buildings, is not
considered to appear out of character with the built surroundings or pattern of development.
In addition, the building is considered, on balance, to be of an acceptable scale, with the
overall form and appearance considered to reflect the character and appearance of nearby
buildings.

6.16

For these reasons, the garage as constructed is considered, on balance, to sit appropriately
within its surroundings, and is considered to reflect the character and visual amenity of the
residential context. The garage does not impact upon wider public views and is not
considered to result in such harm to justify a reason for refusal on amenity grounds. The
development is therefore considered to be in general accordance with Policies 25, 32, and
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
Amenity Impacts

6.17

Policy 32 of the HDPF states that development will be expected to provide an attractive,
functional, accessible, safe, and adaptable environment that contribute a sense of place both
in the buildings and spaces themselves. Policy 33 continues that development shall be
required to ensure that it is designed to avoid unacceptable harm to the amenity of
occupiers/users of nearby property and land.

6.18

Policy 12 of the Henfield Parish Neighbourhood Plan states that development proposals
should be of a design that respects the amenities of occupiers/users of nearby property/land.

6.19

It is recognised that objections have been received on the grounds of potential overlooking
to the neighbouring properties.

6.20

The garage as constructed is located within an area of land located between a paddock to
the east and a barn building to the west. The garage is located approximately 38m from the
nearby residential dwelling of Sunnydene to the east, and approximately 15m from the
storage barn known as Cannondene to the north.

6.21

While the garage is built immediately adjacent to the shared boundary, it is noted that the
development is located at a distance from the nearby dwellings. In addition, the garage is

Page 60

oriented to face south so that the first floor dormers would face away from the neighbouring
properties. Given this context, it is considered that the building is sufficiently distanced so
that it would not result in any unacceptable loss of light or privacy to these nearby dwelling,
and is oriented to avoid overlooking. The development is not therefore considered to result
in unacceptable harm to the amenities and sensitivities of neighbouring properties, in
accordance with Policies 32 and 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
Highways Impacts:
6.22

Policies 40 and 41 of the HDPF promote development that provides safe and adequate
access, suitable for all users.

6.23

The detached garage is accessed from the existing access track and entrance serving the
residential dwelling of Whiteoaks. No alterations are proposed to the existing access.

6.24

Following consultation with WSCC Highways, it is not considered that the detached garage
would result in an intensification of vehicle movements, with no evidence to suggest that the
existing access is functioning inadequately. In addition, the dimensions of the garage comply
with the Manual for Streets and would therefore meet the requirements for covered garage
parking. As such, the proposal is not considered to impact upon the function and safety of
the highway network, and no objections in that regard are raised.

6.25

No alterations to the access are proposed, and the garage is not considered to result in a
material intensification in the use of the established access. For this reason, the proposal is
considered to accord with Policies 40 and 41 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).
Climate change:

6.26

Policies 35, 36 and 37 require that development mitigates to the impacts of climate change
through measures including improved energy efficiency, reducing flood risk, reducing water
consumption, improving biodiversity and promoting sustainable transport modes. These
policies reflect the requirements of Chapter 14 of the NPPF that local plans and decisions
seek to reduce the impact of development on climate change.

6.27

Given the established nature of the site, and the intended use of the garage in association
with the existing dwelling, it is not considered that the development would demonstrably
impact on climate change.
Conclusions

6.28

While the proposal would result in some encroachment to the countryside, it is recognised
that the site sits is read in the context of surrounding residential dwellings and outbuildings,
and shares a close visual relationship with these uses. The area of land subject of the
material change of use is considered to be a small parcel which sits immediately between a
barn building and close boarded fence. Given this spatial context, It is not considered that
the change of use to residential curtilage would detract from the viability and productivity of
the wider agricultural land. In addition, the constructed garage is considered to sit
appropriately within the context of the surroundings, and would not result in harm to the
amenities of neighbouring properties or the function and safety of the public highway
network. The proposal is therefore considered to accord with all relevant local and national
planning policies.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

To approve the application subject to the following conditions.

Page 61

1

Approved Plans

2

Regulatory Condition: The accommodation hereby permitted shall be occupied
solely for purposes ancillary to the occupation and enjoyment of Whiteoaks, Henfield
Road as a dwelling and shall not be used as a separate unit of accommodation.
Reason: The establishment of an additional independent unit of accommodation
would give rise to an over-intensive use of the site and/or lead to an unsatisfactory
relationship between independent units of living accommodation contrary to Policies
26 and 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

3

Regulatory Condition: Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (and/or any Order
revoking and/or re-enacting that Order) no development falling within Classes A, B,
C, D, E, or F of Part 1 of Schedule 2 of the order shall be erected, constructed or
placed within the curtilage of the development hereby permitted without express
planning consent from the Local Planning Authority first being obtained.
Reason: In the interest of visual amenity and due to the countryside location in
accordance with Policies 26 and 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

4

Regulatory Condition: No external lighting or floodlighting shall be installed other
than with the permission of the Local Planning Authority by way of formal application.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the locality and in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Background Papers: DC/20/2355

Page 62

07) DC/20/2355
Whiteoaks, Shoreham Road, Small Dole, Henfield, West Sussex,
BN5 9SD
18.6m

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public
El Sub Sta

¯

Paddockwood

Warehouse
14.7m

Pond

Water

Sunnydene

Bechers

Denfurlong
Farm

A

20

37

Woodsmill
House

12.5m

Serena
Whitchurch

Track
Sylvan Mead

7.9m
GP

Millbrook
Barcombe House

LB

Scale: 1:2,500
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

15/04/2021

Page 63MSA Number

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee South

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

24 April 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

Removal of Condition 21a of previously approved application DC/14/1420
(Proposed new service area (operating between the hours of 6am to 10pm)
development comprising of petrol filling station (sui generis use) and
ancillary shop (A1 use), forecourt canopy, 5 no. pump islands, automatic
car wash and associated service facilities (ATM, air/water point, jet wash
etc) Restaurant with Drive-Thru facility (A3 and A5 uses) and associated
sewage treatment plant) Relating to the operational hours and delivery
times.

SITE:

Petrol Filling Station London Road Ashington Pulborough West Sussex
RH20 3AT

WARD:

West Chiltington, Thakeham and Ashington

APPLICATION:

DC/20/2543

APPLICANT:

Name: Chloe Ballantine Address: C/O Planning Agent Chloe Ballantine
33 Jermyn Street London SW1Y 6DN

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: More than eight persons in different households
have made written representations within the
consultation period raising material planning
considerations that are inconsistent with the
recommendation of the Head of Development
and Building Control.
RECOMMENDATION:

To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions

1.

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT

1.1

To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.2

The application seeks to amend condition 21 of planning approval DC/14/1420 which
currently states:-:
21

The operational hours of the land and buildings comprising the application site shall
be as follows:
a)

The operational hours of the petrol filling station, retail unit and restaurant (i.e.
the times when fuel is sold from the premises) shall be restricted to 0600
hours - 2200 hours.

Contact Officer: Tamara Dale

Page 65

Tel: 01403 215166

b)

The hours of operation of the car wash, car vacuum, jet wash and airline shall
be between the hours of 0800 hours to 1800 hours Monday to Saturday and
between 0900 hours to 1600 hours on Sundays and Bank Holidays.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the locality and in accordance with
Policy DC9 of the Horsham District Local Development Framework: General
Development Control Policies.

1.3

The application seeks to remove part (a) of this condition. The applicant has advised that
the alteration to condition 21 is sought in order for the PFS operator to meet modern business
needs, and for the established service area to meet the requirements and safety of its
customers.

1.4

The initial proposal also sought to remove condition 22 of planning approval DC/14/1420,
which would have allowed deliveries to take place at any time during the day or night (and
on any day of the week). However, following discussions with the applicant this element has
been removed from the application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE

1.5

The application site is located immediately to the north of the built-up area of Ashington
between London Road and the A24, and comprises a triangular piece of land used as a
Petrol Filling Station and ancillary shop and a car sales showroom and workshop (subject of
planning approval DC/16/0643).

1.6

The site is predominantly laid to hardstanding with the boundaries of the site defined by
hedging and trees. The nearest residential property is located approximately 80m from the
access point, with a number of residential dwellings located to the south and west of the site,
beyond the public highway.

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES
The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:

2.2

National Planning Policy Framework

2.3

Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 2 - Strategic Policy: Strategic Development
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 4 - Strategic Policy: Settlement Expansion
Policy 7 - Strategic Policy: Economic Growth
Policy 9 - Employment Development
Policy 10 - Rural Economic Development
Policy 12 - Strategic Policy: Vitality and Viability of Existing Retail Centres
Policy 13 - Town Centre Uses
Policy 24 - Strategic Policy: Environmental Protection
Policy 25 - Strategic Policy: The Natural Environment and Landscape Character
Policy 26 - Strategic Policy: Countryside Protection
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development

Page 66

Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 35 - Strategic Policy: Climate Change
Policy 36 - Strategic Policy: Appropriate Energy Use
Policy 37 - Sustainable Construction
Policy 40 - Sustainable Transport
Policy 41 - Parking
Policy 42 - Strategic Policy: Inclusive Communities
RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
2.4

Ashington Parish Neighbourhood Plan – Regulation 16 Consultation
Policy ASH1: Overall Spatial Strategy for Ashington
Policy ASH3: Parking Provision
Policy ASH5: Landscaping and Countryside Access
Policy AHH6: Noise Impacts

2.5

PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
DC/14/1420

Proposed new service area (operating between the
hours of 6am to 10pm) development comprising of
petrol filling station (sui generis use) and ancillary
shop (A1 use), forecourt canopy, 5 no. pump islands,
automatic car wash and associated service facilities
(ATM, air/water point, jet wash etc) Restaurant with
Drive-Thru facility (A3 and A5 uses) and associated
sewage treatment plant

Application Permitted on
20.11.2014

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers have
had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the public
file at www.horsham.gov.uk
INTERNAL CONSULTATIONS

3.2

HDC Environmental Health (Initial Response – 10 February 2021): Concerns with regards
to the BS 4142:2014 assessment detailed in the report. Firstly, it is not clear why only one
3db correction has been applied when, in our view, intermittency and impulsivity could both
have been applied to the assessment. Secondly, some of the rated levels in the assessment
are marginally below ‘significant adverse impact’ which is a concern.

3.3

The LAmax values during the night values are also a concern. The assessment has not fully
captured the potential impact from these noise events. Would welcome further commentary
on this and the pattern of activity that has been modelled based on predicted use i.e. how
many deliveries/LA max events are expected during the 2200 to 0600 night-time period.

3.4

There is no commentary or justification in the proposals as to why deliveries are needed
during the night-time period.

3.5

No information has been provided on the potential impacts on amenity from lighting as a
result of the proposals.

3.6

HDC Environmental Health (Subsequent Response – 08 April 2021): As detailed in
previous comments, given the close proximity of residential dwellings to the site and the low
background noise levels during the night time period, there is concern that activity at the
petrol filling station during the night time period, especially LAmax events associated with
deliveries, have the potential to have a significant impact on residential amenity.

Page 67

3.7

In review of the Sharps Redmore Addendum to Noise Assessment, dated 19.03.21, the view
remains that the impact from night time deliveries has not been fully quantified. Given this
and the fact that it is still not clear why there is a need for deliveries during the night time
period, the removal of condition 22 could not be supported.

3.8

It is fully accepted that external lighting is required for a development of this nature and that
no additional lighting is proposed as part of this application. There is concern however
regarding the impact the existing lighting will have on amenity between 2200 hours and 0600
hours, when residents of the dwellings closest to the site will be trying to sleep and the
impacts of any lighting will be most noticeable. We are of the view that the impact of lighting
on residential amenity as a result of the proposals has not been adequately assessed.

3.9

HDC Environmental Health (Subsequent Response – 13 April 2021): Taking everything
into account, no objection subject to the impact and any mitigation to be assessed/addressed
via a condition.
OUTSIDE AGENCIES

3.10

WSCC Highways: Both the condition to be varied and that to be removed relate to the
operational hours of the existing road side facility. Neither condition were required by WSCC
Highways to make the development acceptable. There would be no highway objection to the
proposed changes.
PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS

3.11

Ashington Parish Council: Objection
Recognised that the site offers an important amenity in the village, but concerns in respect
of the following:-

3.12

18 letters of objection were received from 12 separate households, and these can be
summarised as follows:
-

3.13

Additional residential properties since the planning approval, and the conditions are
now even more important.
Inconsistencies and subjectivities with the rationale behind the Needs Report
Toilets and amenities are available within a reasonable distance and are not required
in this location
Antisocial behaviour
Additional vehicle movements
Littering
Light pollution

Additional lorry parking
Increase light pollution
Motorists well supported in the area
Additional noise during the evening
Extra rubbish and waste along the road
Antisocial behaviour
Additional pollution
Increased vehicle movements and traffic
Light pollution
Impact on the community
No local need
No need for extended hours

1 letter of support was received, and this can be summarised as follows:
-

24 hour of service will be of benefit to the community

Page 68

-

Additional employment opportunities

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS

6.1

The application seeks to amend condition 21 of planning approval DC/14/1420, which the
removal of subsection (a) of this condition, with the removal of condition 22 entirely.
Principle of Development

6.2

The principle of development was established under the most recent application reference
DC/14/1420 when the service area was approved. The principle of the use is therefore
established, with the current conditions restricting hours of opening and deliveries seeking
to overcome concerns regarding potential amenity impact.

6.3

The Planning Statement submitted in support of the application outlines that 24-hour opening
and unrestricted deliveries is sought in order to meet the business requirements of the PFS
operator and the needs and safety of its customers. The PFS Needs Assessment submitted
with the application outlines that there is a need for overnight roadside facilities and electric
charging facilities within the locality, with the site considered to be impacted by a significant
volume of passing traffic during night hours. Given this level of traffic movement it is
considered beneficial to offer overnight service in order to reduce the impact on tiredness
and possibility of accidents. The assessment therefore considered that the overnight need
within this section of the road network would be substantially addressed by the proposal.

6.4

While recognised that the extended opening hours would provide some social and economic
benefits to users and the business, and is therefore considered acceptable in principle, this
needs to be weighed and balanced against the potential harm arising to neighbouring
occupiers and users of land. As such, the main considerations for the extended operational
hours include the impact on residential amenity, as discussed in detail below.
Amenity Impacts

6.5

Policy 32 of the HDPF states that development will be expected to provide an attractive,
functional, accessible, safe, and adaptable environment that contributes a sense of place
both in the buildings and spaces themselves. Policy 33 continues that development shall be
required to ensure that it is designed to avoid unacceptable harm to the amenity of
occupiers/users of nearby property and land.

6.6

Policy ASH6 of the draft Ashington Parish Neighbourhood Plan states that development,
which by virtue of its proximity to the A24 road, could experience detrimental health impacts
in terms of noise levels, must demonstrate that all such impacts can be adequately mitigated.
This includes both indoor and outdoor.

Page 69

6.7

It is necessary to note that the 24-hour operation of the site was considered under the
previous planning approval reference DC/14/1420. At this stage, the Head of Public Health
and Licensing considered that the operation of the Petrol Filling Station on a 24-hour basis
would be a cause of concern. As although the site is close to the A24 the prevailing ambient
noise levels at night are low. As such noise from the arrival and departure of vehicles and
patrons, particularly impulsive noise such as slamming of car doors and car stereos, may
have combined to cause night-time disturbance to local residents. It was therefore
recommended that conditions, including restricted hours of operation and restrictions on
deliveries, were necessary to ensure noise from the site is properly controlled.

6.8

As part of this current application an Environmental Noise Assessment has been submitted
to establish the actual impact of the now operational service area and current background
noise levels. As part of the current application the assessment therefore allows the impact
of noise from a 24-hour operation on the residential properties adjacent to the site to be
accurately modelled. The Report outlines that existing noise levels are dominated by road
traffic on the London Road and the A24, and the survey data shows no significant difference
in noise levels between 21:30 and 22:00 hours when the PFS was trading and 22:00 and
23:00 when the PFS was closed. Noise within the forecourt was assessed and the Report
concludes that this noise is significantly below the WHO daytime and night-time guideline
values. Predicted noise levels would also be below existing ambient and maximum noise
levels Based on the above, it is concluded that there would be no impact on neighbour
amenity during the night-time period.

6.9

The initial consultation response from the Environmental Health Officer raised concerns
regarding the assessment detailed within the Environmental Noise Report. Specifically, there
were concerns regarding the rated level in the assessment, the noise source (LAmax) values
used in the assessment, and the limited justification provided in response to the necessity
for night-time deliveries. Furthermore, no information regarding the potential impact of the
existing lighting was provided.

6.10

In response, an Addendum to the Noise Assessment dated 19 March 2021 has been
submitted. This outlines that the impulsive nature of noise would attract attention, rather than
the intermittency of the noise. Based on the noise levels and the existing noise climate, it is
considered that the impulsive noise will be just audible, with an appropriate character
correction applied. No feature correction is applied for intermittency because it is not the
intermittent nature of the delivery noise which attracts attention. Contextual matters that
should be considered include the level and character of the existing noise level and absolute
level of the sound. It is noted that in some cases the absolute level may be as, or more,
relevant that the margin by which the rating level exceeds the background. This is especially
true at night when the receptor is indoors, and the main impact is on sleep disturbance. Noise
from trading activity is predicted to be below the WHO guidelines night-time criteria. The
WHO guidelines are based on the level at which the onset of sleep disturbance may occur
and therefore can be considered to be the lowest observed adverse effect level.

6.11

In addition, the Applicant has outlined that no additional external lighting other than that
already approved under the previous planning permission (DC/14/1420 and DC/20/1097)
would be installed. Notwithstanding this, external lighting is necessary to ensure the safety
and security of staff, customers, and the PFS facilities. This is an established roadside site,
sitting immediately adjacent to the strategic road network, which itself benefits from external
lighting to ensure highway safety. It is thereby recognised that external lighting exists within
the vicinity, with the application site bound by well-established vegetation. On the basis, the
existing external lighting is considered adequate, albeit that it would be used for an extended
period of time during the night-time hours.

6.13

Following further clarification and discussion with the Environmental Health Officer, the
extended hours of operation to facilitate 24-hour opening is considered acceptable, provided
that it is demonstrated that the existing lighting fittings approved under reference DC/14/1420

Page 70

do not result in adverse harm the amenity of the nearby residential properties. The Applicant
has provided further clarification in regard to the existing lighting, and it is generally
considered that the existing lighting would not result in adverse harm to the nearby residential
receptors. It has however been suggested by the Environmental Health Officer that the
requirement to submit a Validation Report to confirm the findings be submitted, and an
appropriately worded condition has been recommended in this regard. Subject to such
condition, the variation of condition 21, with the removal of 21(a), is considered acceptable.
6.15

The initial proposal related to the removal of condition 22 of planning approval DC/14/1420.
Concerns were raised by the Environmental Health Officer regarding noise and disturbance
resulting for 24-hour deliveries at the site as previously proposed. There were concerns that
the noise and activity generated from deliveries to the shop, which would take place to the
southern-most portion of the site, and thus in close proximity to the nearest residential
receptors, would result in adverse harm to the amenities of residential properties during the
night-time. It was also considered that limited justification had been provided to demonstrate
why this was a necessity, and it was not considered that there was sufficient business need
for such delivery schedule. For these reasons, the removal of condition 22 as initially
proposed was omitted from the application.

6.16

Notwithstanding the above, it is noted that planning approval DC/14/1420 included the
provision of a restaurant, with condition 21(a) also referring to opening hours for the approved
restaurant. This part of the permission was not built out, with a subsequent application under
reference DC/16/0643 permitting the use of this section of the site for car sales and
maintenance. This permission has been implemented, with Ashington Auto Sales now
operating from this site. The removal of reference to the restaurant within the list of conditions
is therefore considered appropriate and acceptable.
Highways Impacts

6.17

Policy 40 of the HDPF seeks to direct development to areas which are integrated with
sustainable transport networks, encourage sustainable transport choices and ensure that
new development is safe for all modes of transport, including vehicles, cyclists and
pedestrians. In addition, proposals should minimise conflict between traffic, cyclists and
pedestrians. Policy 41 of the HDPF aims to ensure that developments are served by
adequate parking facilities including provision for cycle, motorcycle, low emission vehicles
and the mobility impaired.

6.18

Following consultation from WSCC Highways, the subject conditions were not imposed on
highways grounds, and the proposed variation and removal of the conditions are not
therefore considered to impact on the function and safety of the highway network. No
highway objections have therefore been raised.
Climate Change

6.19

Policies 35, 36 and 37 require that development mitigates to the impacts of climate change
through measures including improved energy efficiency, reducing flood risk, reducing water
consumption, improving biodiversity and promoting sustainable transport modes. These
policies reflect the requirements of Chapter 14 of the NPPF that local plans and decisions
seek to reduce the impact of development on climate change.

6.20

Given the nature of the proposed development, and the established nature of the site, it is
not considered that the proposal would result in any further impact on climate change. The
existing conditions on planning approval DC/14/1420 are considered sufficient to address
potential climate change mitigation.

Page 71

Conclusion
6.21

The extended opening hours would provide social and economic benefits to users of the road
network and residents of the locality, and would also improve the operation and viability of
the established business. The variation of condition 21, and the removal of condition 21(a)
to facilitate 24-hour operation, is therefore considered acceptable in principle.

6.22

It has been sufficiently demonstrated that the noise and activity resulting from the night-time
operating hours would not result in significant adverse impact on the amenities and
sensitivities of nearby residential receptors, with sufficient information provided in regard to
potential light spillage and impact. On the balance of these considerations, the variation of
condition 21 and the removal of 21(a) is considered acceptable.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

To approve the application subject to the following conditions.
1

Approved Plans

2

Pre-Occupation Condition: The extended hours hereby permitted shall not
commence until an assessment of the lighting impact arising from the operation of
the existing lighting fixtures has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.
The assessment of the lighting impact shall be undertaken in accordance with criteria
laid out within the ILE Guidance Note 01/20 Guidance Note For The Reduction of
Obtrusive Light and current best practice, and shall include a scheme of attenuation
measures where necessary. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with
the approved details and attenuation measures prior to the extended operating hours
taking effect, and they shall be permanently retained and maintained in working order
for the duration of the use and their operation.
Reason: To protect the amenities of adjoining occupiers and the surrounding area in
accordance with Policies 32 and 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

3

Regulatory Condition: The screen walls and/or fences as approved under reference
DISC/15/0061 shall be retained and maintained in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: In the interests of amenity in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).

4

Regulatory Condition: The refuse and recycling facilities as approved under
reference DISC/15/0061 shall be retained and maintained in accordance with the
approved details.
Reason: To ensure the adequate provision of recycling facilities in accordance with
Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

5

Regulatory Condition: The burning of any materials from any other source shall not
take place within 10m of the furthest extent of the canopy of any tree, group of trees,
or hedgerow, targeted for retention on the site or on land adjoining.
Reason: To protect trees and vegetation from fire damage in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Page 72

6

Regulatory Condition: Prior to being discharged into any watercourse, surface
water sewer or soakaway system, all surface water drainage from parking areas and
hardstandings shall be passed through trapped gullies to BS 5911:1982 with an
overall capacity compatible with the site being drained.
Reason: To prevent pollution of surface water and in accordance with Policy 24 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

7

Regulatory Condition: The Landscaping Plan and Management Plan as approved
under DISC/15/0192 be retained and maintained in perpetuity.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development and in the interests of amenity and
nature conservation in accordance with Policy 25 and 33 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015).

8

Regulatory Condition: The operational hours of the land and buildings comprising
the application site shall be as follows:
a)

The hours of operation of the car wash, car vacuum, jet wash and airline shall
be between the hours of 0800 hours to 1800 hours Monday to Saturday and
between 0900 hours to 1600 hours on Sundays and Bank Holidays.

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the locality and in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
9

Regulatory Condition: Deliveries to or from the premises shall be restricted to
between the hours of 0600 hours and 2200 hours.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the locality and in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

10

Regulatory Condition: No externally located plant or equipment serving the petrol
station, retail unit and restaurant shall be installed or operated without the prior written
approval of the LPA.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the locality and in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

11

Regulatory Condition: No external lighting or floodlighting shall be installed other
than that shown on the approved plans. All such lighting shall be maintained in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the locality and in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

12

Regulatory Condition: No lighting fitment shall be installed or at any time operated
on the site from which the source of light is directly visible from the public highway.
Reason: In the interests of amenity and road safety and in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Background Papers: DC/14/1420

Page 73

This page is intentionally left blank

08) DC/20/2543
BILLINGSHURST ROAD

Petrol Filling Station, London Road, Ashington, Pulborough,
West Sussex, RH20 3AT

AD
N

Old Orchard

LO

N

34.8m

Amalinda

¯

O

e

DO

Oakwood Hous

For Business
use only - not for distribution to the general public
Foxes

R

rm
Oast House Fa

Fir Tree
Cottage

Pond
Yew Tree
Cottage

The Staddlestones

Martins Farm

17

The Granary
LINFIEL18 to 22
D LANE
1 to 5
11

Pond
Little Martins

35.0m

6 to 10
White
OakEl Sub Sta
Oakhurst

El Sub Sta

IVY LANE
A

ACRES
1
Bloxham

1122a 14 1
6
ALICIA
AVENUSunbeams
E
Blackbe
Cottagrry
Southdoew
House n
The Old
Butchers
Shop

4

2

1

Filling Station

The Smallholding

Hollyoaks

s

Ap r

i l Co

t ta g

e

The Bungalow
A 24

GREEN

4

Colwenni
Betula aks
O
r th
o
N
Coconino
Br o
om s
t i ck
s
Mirren
Ivy
Cottage

SE

8

Downview
Cottage

24

38.8m

LO

Cone Den

A2

IVY
C

Ev e

The Pines

BILLINGSHURST RD

rgre

en

Jan Da Mia

Breccia
Teviotdale

Rosewood

Willowdene
Nevada

Ashington

3
Dorlyn
House

Garage
Artists
Cottage

The Lawns
Bungalow

Scale: 1:2,500
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

15/04/2021

Page 75MSA Number

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee South

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

27 April 2021

SITE:

Variation of Condition 1 of previously approved application DC/20/0548
(Variation of condition 1 to previously approved application DC/17/1499
(Erection of a two storey four bedroom dwelling with detached garage)
Relating to the replacement of a front dormer window with roof light,
extension to the front porch with an open oak frame structure and the
erection of a ground floor rear extension with parapet flat roofs) Relating
to the garage plan.
Land Adjoining Firtops Grove Lane West Chiltington Pulborough West
Sussex RH20 2RD

WARD:

West Chiltington, Thakeham and Ashington

APPLICATION:

DC/20/2494

APPLICANT:

Name: Mr Peter Sculley Address: 10 Birchwood Close Langshott
Horley RH6 9TX

DEVELOPMENT:

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: More than eight persons in different households
have made written representations within the
consultation period raising material planning
considerations that are inconsistent with the
recommendation of the Head of Development
and Building Control.

RECOMMENDATION:

To Grant Planning Permission

1.

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT

1.1

To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.2

The application seeks a minor material amendment to an existing planning permission for
the erection of a two storey four bedroom dwelling with detached garage, through a variation
of the approved plans. The amendments subject of this application comprises the change
in form and design of the approved garage roof with the installation of two rear velux
rooflights, with all other external materials remining the same. The proposed alterations will
vary the design, height and massing of the existing pitched roof garage, replacing it with a
half hip barn style roof with the inclusion of two rear rooflights on its south west elevation.

Contact Officer: William Omoma

Page 77

Tel: 01403 215 169

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE
1.3

The Land adjoining Firtops was granted planning permission under DC/17/1499 for the
erection of a two storey four-bedroom dwelling with detached garage, subsequently
subdividing the front garden of Firtops to accommodate the new dwelling. The dwelling
occupies a modest sized plot bounded by neighbours Firwood Cottage to the west, Yew
Tree House to the south west, Malindi and Jarrah to the north and north west and Firtops to
the east and south east respectively.

1.4

The site is located on the southern side of Grove lane and to the east of Roundabout Lane.
The new build is set close to its driveway with a slight setback from the lane with a rear
garden which features a change in level, with the dwelling set lower than the rear garden.
The site is located within the built-up area of West Chiltington Common. The area
comprises a mixture of residential properties located within plots of mostly medium to large
size.

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES

2.2

The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:

2.3

National Planning Policy Framework

2.4

Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 41 - Parking
RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN

2.5

Under Regulation 7, the West Chiltington Neighbourhood Plan Area was designated in
February 2014. The West Chiltington Neighbourhood Plan is in progress.

2.6

PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
DC/20/0548

DC/17/1499

3.

Variation of condition 1 to previously approved
application DC/17/1499 (Erection of a two storey four
bedroom dwelling with detached garage) Relating to
the replacement of a front dormer window with roof
light, extension to the front porch with an open oak
frame structure and the erection of a ground floor
rear extension with parapet flat roofs
Erection of a two-storey four bedroom dwelling with
detached garage, associated hardstanding and
alterations to access

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

Page 78

Application Permitted on
20.05.2020

Application Permitted on
23.02.2018

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers
have had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the
public file at www.horsham.gov.uk
OUTSIDE AGENCIES

3.2

WSCC Highways: The variation seeks a minor material amendment to the garage plan.
This appears to relate to the roof shape and would not alter the space available within the
garage and existing permitted parking layout. There are therefore no highways comments
to provide on this variation of condition application.

3.3

Southern Water: No Objection

3.4

West Chiltington Parish Council objects to this application. It considers that this
proposed development is too large and would constitute an overdevelopment of the site. It
would also restrict neighbours' light and enjoyment of their property. Furthermore, the
Parish Council wishes to remind the Case Officer that a lot of work went into the original
application to protect neighbours' amenity and mitigate neighbour impacts. It feels that to
allow this 'variation of condition' would undo all of that effort. The Parish Council also noted
that it is seeing an increasing number of applications relating to 'Variations of Conditions'
and, certainly in this instance, questions their validity.
PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS

3.3

15 Letters of Objections from 12 Householders were received for the application. The
nature of these objections can be summarised as follows:








The proposal would create a detrimental precedent which is not in keeping with the local
vernacular and wider character.
Overshadowing and loss of amenity to Firwood Cottage rear garden courtyard.
The proposal is overbearing, restricts light and would increase the overbearing nature of
the development.
The amended gabled roof structure, with its increase in height and added roof windows
changes the scale, nature and potential uses of the garage block in that it converts the
building into a double storey garage block.
These amendments constitute a fundamental change to the plans and changes the ‘use’
of the garage block.
The half-gabled design is atypical of the new build garage in Wells Cottage properties,
which have low roofline, no office space above, of smaller dimensions than the expansive
design proposed and not overbearing on neighbouring properties.
There is no need for the velux windows (which will cause a light nuisance to my property)
if this floor is to be used solely for storage.

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

Page 79

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS
Principle of development:

6.1

Planning permission was granted in July 2017 for the erection of a two storey four-bedroom
dwelling with detached garage (ref: DC/17/1499). A subsequent minor material amendment
(through a variation of condition) was approved in March 2020 relating to the replacement of
a front dormer window with roof light, extension to the front porch with an open oak frame
structure and the erection of a ground floor rear extension with parapet flat roofs (ref:
DC/20/0548).

6.2

The minor material amendment sought by this current application would essentially increase
the ridge height and change the roof form of the previously approved garage. The
amendment would not alter the description or character of the originally approved
development, which was described as ‘erection of a two storey four bedroom dwelling with
detached garage’, and a minor material amendment is therefore the correct application for
the changes proposed.

6.3

The principle of development has been established by the existing planning permission(s)
on the site and does not need to be revisited as part of this application, the key issues raised
by which relate to the impact on the character and appearance of the locality and on
neighbouring amenity.
Character and Appearance

6.4

Policy 32 of the HDPF requires high quality design that complements the locally distinctive
character of the district and contributes a sense of place in the way they integrate with their
surroundings. Policy 33 of the HDPF sets out the Council's development principles in order
to conserve and enhance the natural and built environment. The policy, amongst other
criteria, requires proposals to ensure that the scale, massing and appearance of the
development is of a high standard of design and layout and where relevant relates
sympathetically with the built surroundings, landscape, open spaces and routes within and
adjoining the site, including any impact on the skyline and important views and be locally
distinctive in character and respect the character of the surrounding area.

6.5

The prevailing character of the area surrounding the application site is residential in nature;
as mainly comprised of detached dwellings divided by traditional hedgerows and fencing.
Nearby dwellings in proximity to the application site on Grove Lane are mostly Wells cottages
with a few more recent dwellings featuring a differing style and design, but are generally set
within generous plots that maintain appropriate gaps between the site in keeping with the
wider character of the area.

6.6

The proposed amendments to the approved garage would increase the bulk and massing of
the previously approved roof and alter its appearance. As part of the application process
amended plans have been received which reduce the extent of the increase in height being
proposed. The resulting plans have reduced the extent of the increase to approximately
0.6m above that previously approved on the site (this is a reduction from the 1.1m height
increase originally proposed). This increase in height is considered modest and acceptable
in this location.

Page 80

6.7

The proposed roof form, with barn-ends in place of hips, does increase the bulk and massing
from that previously approved on the site. The resulting roof form would not though appear
disproportionate or out of proportion with the footprint of the garage, with the siting unaltered
from the existing permission. The presence of barn-ends would not create a structure which
appears unduly dominant or visually intrusive, and the scale of the garage would remain
clearly subservient to the main dwelling and surrounding development. The proposed
rooflights are modestly sized and well contained within the roofslope are of little consequence
to the prevailing character and appearance of the site and wider surrounding area.

6.8

The proposed amendments would not create an overdeveloped or cramped appearance to
the site, and there would be no adverse impact on the character of the site or wider
surrounding area. As such, the proposed amendments would be in accordance with policies
32 and 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework.
Impact on neighbouring amenity

6.9

Policy 33 of the HDPF states that development should, amongst other things, respect
amenities of neighbouring properties and the locality.

6.10

The garage is set away from shared site boundaries and while there would be an increase
in height and bulk at roof level taking into account the considerable separation from
neighbouring dwellings and the layout of adjoining sites no unacceptable harm would result
from the proposal.

6.11

The rear rooflights would be at a height and angle which would not lend themselves to
intrusive views over neighbouring properties, with views primarily created over the rear of the
application site. The resulting relationship with neighbouring properties would not be unusual
or unexpected in an established residential location such as this, and no harmful loss of
privacy would result for occupants of adjoining properties and land.

6.12

The use of the garage for purposes connected with the main dwelling would not lead to
significant potential for harmful levels of noise or disturbance and the proposal does not raise
any further highway considerations.

6.13

The amenity impacts of the proposal are therefore considered acceptable and would accord
with the above policy.
Conclusion:

6.6

The proposed amendments are considered to be acceptable and would not result in any
adverse impact to visual or neighbouring amenity.
The application is therefore
recommended for approval. As this application would create a new planning permission for
the development as a whole it is necessary to re-impose all relevant conditions from the
original consent, and these form part of the recommendation.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS
1

A list of the approved plans

2

Regulatory Condition: The development, including any works of demolition, shall
take place in strict accordance with the Construction Management Plan approved
under application ref: DISC/20/0047.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental in order to consider the potential impacts on
the amenity of neighbouring occupants during construction and in accordance with
Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Page 81

3

Regulatory Condition: The development hereby permitted shall take place in strict
accordance with the details of existing and proposed finished floor levels approved
under application ref: DISC/20/0047.
Reason: To control the development in detail in the interests of amenity and visual
impact and in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

4

Regulatory Condition: The development hereby permitted shall take place in strict
accordance with the drainage strategy approved under application ref:
DISC/20/0047.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that the development is properly
drained and to comply with Policy 38 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

5

Regulatory Condition: The development hereby permitted shall take place in strict
accordance with the tree protection details approved under application ref:
DISC/20/0047. Furthermore, the following preliminaries shall be completed in the
sequence set out below:


All trees on the site shown for retention on drawings to be submitted, as well as
those offsite whose root protection areas ingress into the site, shall be fully
protected by tree protective fencing affixed to the ground in full accordance with
section 6 of BS 5837 'Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction
- Recommendations' (2012).



Once installed, the fencing shall be maintained during the course of the
development works and until all machinery and surplus materials have been
removed from the site.



Areas so fenced off shall be treated as zones of prohibited access, and shall not
be used for the storage of materials, equipment or machinery in any
circumstances. No mixing of cement, concrete, or use of other materials or
substances shall take place within any tree protective zone, or close enough to
such a zone that seepage or displacement of those materials and substances
could cause them to enter a zone.

Reason: To ensure the successful and satisfactory retention of important trees and
hedgerows on the site in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015).
6

Regulatory Condition: The development hereby permitted shall take place in strict
accordance with the schedule of materials approved under application ref:
DISC/20/0047 on 19.05.2020.
Reason: In the interests of amenity by endeavouring to achieve a building of visual
quality in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

7

Pre-Occupation Condition: The landscape scheme approved under application
ref: DISC/20/0047 shall be fully implemented in accordance with the approved
details within the first planting season following the first occupation of any part of the
development. Any plants, which within a period of 5 years, die, are removed, or
become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting

Page 82

season with others of similar size and species unless the Local Planning Authority
gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development that is sympathetic to the landscape
and townscape character and built form of the surroundings, and in the interests of
visual amenity in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).
8

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation (or use) of any part of the
development hereby permitted, the parking turning and access facilities shall be
implemented in accordance with the approved details as shown on plan 2840/700A
and shall be thereafter retained as such.
Reason: To ensure adequate parking, turning and access facilities are available to
serve the development in accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015).

9

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation (or use) of any part of the
development hereby permitted the screening for the new dwelling shall be
implemented place in strict accordance with the relevant details approved under
application ref: DISC/20/0047.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development that is sympathetic to the landscape
and townscape character and built form of the surroundings, and in the interests of
visual amenity in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

10

Regulatory Condition: Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 or Orders
amending or revoking and re-enacting the same, no windows or other openings
(other than those shown on the plans hereby approved) shall be formed in the
north-eastern flank wall or roof-slope of the garage of the development without
express planning consent from the Local Planning Authority first being obtained.
Reason: To protect the amenities of adjoining residential properties at Firwood
Cottage from loss of privacy and in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).

11

Regulatory Condition: The garage(s) hereby permitted shall be used only as
private domestic garages for the parking of vehicles incidental to the use of the
properties as dwellings and for no other purposes.
Reason: To ensure adequate off-street provision of parking in the interests of
amenity and highway safety, and in accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).

Background Papers: DC/17/1499
DC/20/0548

Page 83

This page is intentionally left blank

09) DC/20/2494
Land Adjoining Firtops, Grove Lane, West Chiltington, Pulborough,
West Sussex, RH20 2RD
Pipers Cottage

El Sub Sta

Reflections
West Chiltington Common
Bauhinia

The Burrows
Mustela

RO U N

Robinswood
Milne
Little Bracken
Turpins

Roundabout

Rosemary
Cottage

1

¯

E

Chilcote

2

Chorleywood

Quilters Place

Badgers

Plashetts
Malindi

Grove Gate
Melbury

SILVERLAD
G

NE

Little
Hayden

6

Cambounet

LA

BADGERS WOOD

D AB O
LA
UN
TE

Ikoyi

1

Selmio
5

Brae Lodge

Logans

Two Bridges

Bower
Lodge
Summerleas

Bridgers

Ling Heath

not for distribution to the general public

WE
R

For

Poppy's Place 29.7m
Business
use only -

BO

Pine Lodge

The Hollies
Jarrah

Wildshaw
27.3m

Picketty
House

Dingley Thatch

The Cottage
ta
El Sub S

Woodside

Westerlyn
Yew Tree
House
RO
UN
DA
BO
UTReynards
CO
The Rookeries
PS
E

Green
Shadows

BIRCG
H
RO
VE

Shadiroc

Rock Hammerton Chase
Cottage

GP

LB
Und
31.5m

CH

Mallards

Greensleeves E
O PS
LS C
A
E
THRBella Casa
Kingsley

Corbies

1

Istana
Drovers
Amberdown
HillsideThe Pines

Und

CH

Track
CB

CH

Greylands

Firtops

E
AN
GROVLE
The Rustlings

6

Little Boynton

Rosedene

Karibu

d
oo

Ashley
House
Oak Ridge

GP
Bydand

Coleraine

sw
er
De

Hill End
30.3m
Enderby
Thatch

Quilters

34.5m

Rosthwaite
The
Butts
Lanes
End

Bramley
Cottage

Firwood
Cottage

Peacock Tree nd
U Und

CW
Roundabout Farm

Scale: 1:2,500
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

15/04/2021

Page 85MSA Number

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

